
 Agenda

Page 1

Ethics Committee

Time and Date
10.00 am on Thursday, 24th March, 2016

Place
Diamond Room 5 – Council House

Public Business

1. Apologies  

2. Declarations of Interest  

3. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 22)

a) To agree the minutes of the meetings held on 17 September 2015, 30 
November 2015 and 29 February 2016

b) Matters Arising

4. Code of Conduct Update  (Pages 23 - 52)

Report of the Executive Director of Resources

5. Six Monthly Review of Members' Declarations of Gifts and Hospitality  
(Pages 53 - 68)

Report of the Executive Director of Resources

6. Six Monthly Review of Officers' Gift and Hospitality  (Pages 69 - 82)

Report of the Executive Director of Resources

7. Work Programme 2016-17  (Pages 83 - 90)

Report of the Executive Director Resources

8. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of special circumstances involved  

Private Business
Nil

Chris West, Executive Director, Resources, Council House Coventry

Wednesday, 16 March 2016

Public Document Pack



Page 2

Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Gurdip Paddan Tel: 024 7683 3075  Email: gurdip.paddan@coventry.gov.uk

Membership: Councillors A Andrews, L Bigham, J Clifford (Chair), D Gannon and 
J McNicholas

Independent Person – Ken Sloan

Please note: a hearing loop is available in the committee rooms

If you require a British Sign Language interpreter for this meeting 
OR it you would like this information in another format or 
language please contact us.

Gurdip Paddan
Telephone: (024) 7683 3072
Email: gurdip.paddan@coventry.gov.uk



– 1 –

Coventry City Council
Minutes of the Meeting of Ethics Committee held at 10.00 am on Thursday, 

17 September 2015

Present:
Members: Councillor J Clifford (Chair)

Councillor L Bigham
Councillor D Gannon

Employees 
(by Directorate):

C Bradford, Resources Directorate
G Paddan, Resources Directorate
A West, Resources Directorate

Apologies: Councillors A Andrews and J McNicholas 
K Sloan – Independent Person

Public Business

9. Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

10. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 2 July 2015 were signed as a true record.  
There were no matters arising.

11. Code of Conduct Update 

The Committee received a report of the Executive Director of Resources, which 
provided an update to members of the Ethics Committee on national issues in 
relation to the ethical behaviour of elected members and the local position in 
Coventry with regard to Code of Conduct issues.

The report noted the complaints received relating to members of Coventry City 
Council.  There had been three new complaints since the last meeting of this 
Committee.   All complaints had been handled in accordance with the agreed 
Complaints Protocol.  No findings had been made by the Local Government 
Ombudsman in relation to members of Coventry City Council.  No complaints had 
been received by the Monitoring Officer in respect of Allesley or Keresley Parish 
Councils.

Members raised concerns regarding social media and the importance of 
separating private and public calls/emails on Council’s communication equipment. 

RESOLVED that the Ethics Committee:

1. Notes the cases determined nationally

2. Authorises officer to bring the national cases in relation to the ethical 
behaviour of elected members to members’ attention. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



– 2 –

12. Six Monthly Review of Members' Declarations of Gifts and Hospitality 

The Committee received a report of the Executive Director of Resources, which 
set out details of declarations of gifts and hospitality made by members since the 
Committee last reviewed these at its meeting on 10 March 2015.  The declarations 
attached to the report were considered.

RESOLVED that the report be noted.

13. Six Monthly Review of Officers' Gifts and Hospitality 

The Committee received a report of the Executive Director of Resources, which 
set out the entries in the register for the period 1 January to 30 June 2015.  It also 
included an extract from the Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees relating to 
gifts and hospitality.

At present the Chief Executive’s Office and each Directorate maintain their own 
separate register of gifts and hospitality.  Each register varied in terms of how 
much information was recorded.  All registers are maintained by the relevant 
Director’s office apart from Public Health which has arrangements to log gifts and 
hospitality received on the register maintained by the Chief Executive’s Office.  
There is a separate register for the Chief Executive to record his gifts and 
hospitality.  It was noted that People Directorate had no entries in their register for 
the period being considered.

RESOLVED that the Ethics Committee:

1.  Notes the report

2. That a standardised recording table be organised for unified entries  
by Employees

3. Guidance on completing and maintaining the register to be circulated 
to employees/managers

14. Work Programme 2015-16 

The Committee received a report of the Executive Director of Resources which 
suggested areas of work for Ethics Committee for the Municipal year 2015-16. 

The Committee were advised that The Society of Local Authority Chief Executives 
and Senior Managers (SOLACE) had been working with a number of 
organisations to develop a Code of Ethics which is intended to be applicable to all 
those who hold senior management roles in local public services led by locally 
elected politicians.  The consultation period ended in June 2015.  It was suggested 
this code be considered at a future meeting.

RESOLVED that the work programme be updated to include the new code of 
ethics for consideration at a future meeting – December 2015/March 2016.

Page 4



– 3 –

15. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of special circumstances involved 

There were no other items of public business.

(Meeting closed at 10.43)

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Coventry City Council
Minutes of the Meeting of Ethics Committee held at 10.00 am on Monday

30 November 2015 and Reconvened at 10.00am on Monday 29 February 2016

Present:
Members: Councillor J Clifford (Chair)

Councillor A Andrews
Councillor L Bigham
Councillor D Gannon
Councillor J McNicholas

Employees (by 
Directorate):

Independent Person

 C Bradford, Resources Directorate
 G Paddan, Resources Directorate
 F Collingham, Chief Executive Directorate

 K Sloan

Other Members 
Present 

Others Present

Councillor G Duggins
Councillor A Lucas
Councillor J Mutton

Complainants, Investigating Officer, Solicitors, Press, Public

Public Business

16. Apologies 

There were no apologies for absence

17. Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.

18. Hearing into Complaint under Code of Conduct

The Ethics Committee received a report of the Executive Director of 
Resources which set out brief details of a complaint.  Members considered 
the following:

a) Preliminary Matters for Determination

b) Presentation of the Complainant’s Case

c) Presentation of the Investigating Officer’s Report

The hearing was adjourned at this point. 

Page 7



2

19. Reconvened Hearing into Complaint under Code of Conduct

The meeting was reconvened on 29 February 2016.  The Complainant and 
the Investigating Officer gave a summary of their respective cases before the 
summing up.

d) Summing Up

e) Views/Submissions of the Independent Person

f) Determination of Complaint

g) Sanctions (if applicable)

RESOLVED that the conclusion of the Committee is as set out in the Decision 
Letter attached as Appendix 1 to these minutes. 

Page 8



3

          APPENDIX 1

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL

DECISION NOTICE OF ETHICS COMMITTEE

 

A Complaint by: Mishcon de Reya, Solicitors on behalf of
Arvo Master Funding 
SISU |Capital Limited
Sky Blue Sports and Leisure Limited 
Otium Entertainment Group Limited ( trading as Coventry 
City Football Club)
Ms Joy Seppala
Ms Laura Deering 
(“the Complainants”)

B Subject Members: Councillor Ann Lucas OBE  
                                Councillor John Mutton

C Introduction 

1. On 30th November 2015 and 29th February 2016, the Ethics Committee of 
Coventry City Council considered a report of an investigation into the 
alleged conduct of Cllr Ann Lucas, OBE and Cllr John Mutton, both 
members of Coventry City Council. A general summary of the complaint is 
set out below.

D Complaint summary

2. The Complainants made a number of allegations about the behaviour of 
Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton. These can be summarised as follows:

2.1 Cllr Mutton’s conduct in meetings with Ms Seppala and Ms Deering was 
unacceptable; 

2.2 Cllr Mutton failed to declare relevant interests;

2.3 Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton failed to make decisions in an objective and 
unbiased way;

2.4 Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton made public comments which were not 
appropriate for elected members to make and which were defamatory of, 

Page 9



4

and prejudicial to some or all of the Complainants; and 

2.5 Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton instigated and participated in a public smear 
campaign against the Complainants through the media. 

2.6 The grounds for complaint set out at 2.1 to 2.5 above are taken from 
paragraph 2 of the Complainants’ Response to the Investigating Officer’s 
Report where the alleged breaches of the Code are summarised. 

2.7 In addition, following the publication of the Investigating Officer’s report, 
the Complainants further alleged that the complaints had not been fully or 
properly investigated by the Investigating Officer and that it was 
something of a “whitewash”. They did not accept the findings in the report 
which could not be relied upon because it did not reflect a full and fair 
investigation. In particular there was:

(a) A misunderstanding of the basis of the complaint;
(b) A failure to conduct the investigation properly;
(c) A failure to investigate the complaint fully including a failure to 

request; that Coventry City Council provide all relevant documents;
(d) Insufficient consideration and thought given to the relevant 

evidence;
(e) Introduction of and reliance on irrelevant evidence;
(f) A failure to apply the relevant law properly; and 
(g) Reached incorrect or unsound conclusions. 

E Hearing 

3. The Ethics Committee consisted of:
 Cllr Joe Clifford (Chair)
 Cllr Allan Andrews
 Cllr Linda Bigham
 Cllr Damian Gannon
 Cllr John McNicholas

3.1 The Independent Person, Mr Ken Sloan, attended the hearing. 

3.2 Ms Joy Seppala and Ms Laura Deering (the Complainants) attended the 
hearing and were represented by Ms Fiona Laurence of Mishcon de 
Reya, Solicitors. 

3.3 Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton attended the hearing and Cllr Mutton was 
accompanied by Cllr George Duggins.

3.4 Mr Simon Goacher of Weightmans, Solicitors, the Investigating Officer 
(IO), attended the hearing. 

F Consultation with Independent Person

Page 10



5

4. The Independent Person, Mr Ken Sloan, stated in a letter dated 13th 
November 2015 that:

4.1 “In completing his report, Mr Goacher has remained focussed on the 
allegations brought forward by the complainants insofar as they relate to 
the Coventry City Council Code of Conduct as adopted by the Council in 
July 2012. He states on several occasions that there are matters brought 
forward by the complainants which go beyond the requirements of the 
Code of Conduct but relates his conclusions only on matters as they 
pertain to the allegation of breaches of the Code of Conduct.

4.2 “The report highlights the documents that have been reviewed and the 
interviews that have been conducted. It states that all parties have had 
the opportunity to review the notes of their interviews and confirm that the 
details contained within the notes are accurate. 

4.3 “It is not my role to re-examine or investigate the complaint. I am limiting 
my comments therefore to whether I have concerns on the report or the 
manner in which the investigation has been conducted. I can confirm that 
having read the report I have no concerns regarding it, its conclusions or 
the manner in which it has been conducted.”

5. At the conclusion of the hearing the Independent Person was again asked 
for his views. He made the following points:

5.1 At the time the complaint was made, the issue of the timeliness of some 
of the complaints was raised. He thought it was appropriate to consider 
these complaints even though the last event complaint of was 2 or 3 years 
before the complaint was received. 

5.2 This was a highly complex case and evidence base and it was a 
significant task for the Committee to come to a decision. He 
recommended that the Committee bear in mind at all times the opening 
statement of the Code which talks about the individual councillor agreeing 
to comply with the Code when undertaking their duties as a councillor. 
There was no process in the Code for taking into account the actions or 
roles of other bodies or of council officers. The Committee should be 
absolutely clear about the part played by Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton 
individually and their actions. 

F Findings

6. After considering the submissions of the parties to the hearing and the 
views of the Independent Person, the Committee reached the following 
decision(s):

6.1 On the question of whether the investigation and report of the 
Investigating Officer were flawed:

Page 11



6

The Committee found that the Investigation and report of the Investigating 
Officer was sufficient for the purposes of establishing whether any 
breaches of the Code of Conduct occurred. 

6.2 Whether Cllr Mutton’s conduct in meetings with Ms Seppala and Ms 
Deering was unacceptable:

The Committee found that there was insufficient evidence to show that 
Cllr Mutton’s behaviour was unacceptable and there was no breach of the 
Code of Conduct. 

6.3 Whether there was a failure by Cllr Mutton to declare relevant 
interests:

The Committee concluded that Cllr Mutton did not fail to declare his 
interest as it was not one that he needed to declare. There was therefore 
no breach of the Code of Conduct 

6.4 Whether there was a failure by both councillors to make decisions in 
an objective and unbiased way:

The Committee decided that there was no failure by either councillor to 
make decisions in an objective or unbiased way. There was therefore no 
breach of the Code of Conduct.

6.5 Whether Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton made public comments which 
were not appropriate for elected members to make and which were 
defamatory of and prejudicial to some or all of the complainants:

The Committee did not consider that the comments made by either 
councillor amounted to a breach of the Code of Conduct.

6.6 Whether Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton  instigated and participated in a 
public smear campaign against the Complainants through the 
media: 

The Committee concluded that there is no evidence that either councillor 
instigated or participated in a public smear campaign against the 
complainants. There was therefore no breach of the Code of Conduct.

G Reasons

7. The Committee’s reasons for reaching its decision are as follows:

7.1 Finding at Paragraph 6.1 

7.1.1 The Complainants have alleged that the investigation and report of the 
Investigating Officer were flawed. The Committee heard representations 
on this point from the Complainants and the Investigating Officer.

Page 12



7

7.1.2 The Committee is mindful that the local standards regime as set out in the 
Localism Act 2011 gives councils a certain amount of freedom in the way 
in which it investigates complaints about councillors’ behaviour but  at the 
same time the range of sanctions available to them is significantly smaller 
and weaker than it was under the previous regime. It is intended to be a 
light touch regime. 

7.1.3 It is against this backdrop that the Committee has considered whether the 
investigation and report are sufficient for the purposes of coming to a view 
on whether there have been any breaches of the Code of Conduct.

7.1.4 The Committee has heard the Complainants’ arguments that the 
Investigating Officer should have interviewed other potential witnesses, 
sought out additional documents and possibly asked additional questions 
of witnesses who were interviewed. However, it should be remembered 
that this was the Complainants’ complaint and they were afforded every 
opportunity to put their case, both in writing and in interview.  It was for 
the IO to determine who should be interviewed and the Committee 
accepts his view that there was no need to interview other witnesses in 
connection with the complaint. The Committee considers that it was not 
proportionate to expect the IO to ask the Council for additional documents 
in order to support the Complainant’s case. The Committee also accepts 
the Investigating Officer’s view that any investigation needs to be fair and 
proportionate bearing in mind the light touch regime that it forms part of. 

7.1.5 The Committee has taken note of the Independent Person’s views on the 
adequacy or otherwise of the Investigation and Report and in particular 
his observation that the Report has remained focussed on those aspects 
of the Complaint which relate to the Code of Conduct and the behaviour 
of the individual councillors. The Committee can only deal with these 
matters and has no authority to rule on complaints about decisions made 
by the Council itself or by officers. At times the Complaint has strayed into 
trying to ascribe to Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton responsibility for the 
decisions or actions of others. In this respect the Committee agrees that 
the Investigating Officer was right to confine his investigation and report to 
matters which could be dealt with under the Code. 

7.1.6 For these reasons the Committee considers that the Investigation and 
Report are adequate for the purposes of this hearing and it would not be 
fair or proportionate to require further investigation. 

7.2 Finding at Paragraph 6.2

7.2.1 The allegation was that Cllr Mutton’s behaviour in meetings with Ms 
Seppala and Ms Deering was unacceptable. He was said to have been 
“rude, unprofessional, unnecessarily and inappropriately argumentative, 
aggressive and appeared to be sexist as well.” 

7.2.2 The Committee has assumed that the allegation is, therefore, that Cllr 

Page 13



8

Mutton breached paragraph 3(j) of the Code of Conduct in that he failed to 
treat people with respect. 

7.2.3 These allegations relate to meetings which took place on 1st and 18th May 
and 24th July 2012. Ms Seppala and Ms Deering were both present at the 
meetings in May. Ms Deering was present at the July meeting. Ms 
Seppala was not physically present but participated via the telephone. 

7.2.4 The Committee has not had any evidence produced to it that sets out why 
Cllr Mutton’s behaviour was considered to be so unacceptable as to 
constitute a breach of the Code of Conduct. There is no evidence of what 
he is said to have said or done to support the allegation, except that he, 
and Cllr Duggins, had berated both Ms Seppala and Ms Deering for the 
poor performance of the football club. Cllr Mutton has described this 
particular incident as a discussion of the “dire” performance of the football 
club and how things could be turned around. He said that he had not 
expected Ms Seppala or Ms Deering to apologise for the club’s 
performance as they were not responsible for this. 

7.2.5 At the hearing Cllr Mutton accepted that he was robust, but not rude, in 
these meetings. The Committee has also taken note of the accounts of 
Chris West and Cllr Duggins who were both present at those meetings 
and who considered that while the atmosphere of the meetings may have 
been “grumpy” at times, Cllr Mutton had not been rude. The fact that Ms 
Seppala asked Cllr Mutton to give her a hug after one of the meetings 
suggests that the relationship between them was not entirely antagonistic. 

7.2.6 The Committee also noted that although Ms Deering took notes of the 
three meetings at which Cllr Mutton’s behaviour was alleged to be 
unacceptable, those notes do not record any specific incidents. If Cllr 
Mutton’s behaviour was as bad as has been suggested, the Committee 
feels that some note might have been taken of it. (pages 145 to 153 of the 
agenda documents) 

7.2.7 The Committee has also noted that the Complainants did not complain 
about the alleged behaviour until nearly three years after the events 
complained of. While it accepts that the Complainants may not have 
wanted to make a formal complaint while negotiations were still 
continuing, the delay in so doing has contributed to a lack of evidence on 
this aspect of the Complaint. 

7.2.8 The Committee has therefore concluded that there is insufficient evidence 
to support the allegation that Cllr Mutton’s behaviour was unacceptable. 

7.3 Finding at Paragraph 6.3

7.3.1 The allegation is that Cllr Mutton failed to declare in his register of 
interests that he was a trustee of the Alan Higgs Centre Trust. The 
Investigating Officer had concluded that although this was not a 
disclosable pecuniary interest, it fell to be disclosed under Paragraph 

Page 14



9

5.1(b) of the Code of Conduct. 

7.3.2 Paragraph 5.1(b) requires councillors to register details of their 
membership of any organisation or body whose rules or requirements of 
membership could be regarded as suggesting a degree of loyalty to that 
organisation or body. This could arise by reason of an organisation having 
an obligation of secrecy about its rules, its membership or conduct and/or 
a commitment of allegiance or support to that organisation or body. Such 
organisations or bodies may or may not be charitable concerns and they 
may also have a local, regional, national or international aspect. 

7.3.3 The Committee accepts Mr Goacher’s finding that Cllr Mutton, by virtue of 
being a trustee of the Alan Higgs Centre Trust, did not have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest as defined by the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012/1464. 

7.3.4 However, the Committee considered that the wording of paragraph 5.1(b) 
gives a clear indication that it is intended to apply only to membership of 
organisations or bodies whose rules or requirements demand a degree of 
loyalty from its members which is greater than one would normally expect 
from other organisations or bodies. This view is supported by the example 
given in the Code to a body that expects its members to keep its rules 
secret.  While as a trustee Cllr Mutton has a number of legal obligations to 
the Trust, he is not bound to it in the way contemplated by paragraph 
5.1(b).

7.3.5 For these reasons the Committee considers that Cllr Mutton did not 
breach the Code of Conduct as he was under no obligation to register his 
position as trustee as an interest. 

7.4 Finding at Paragraph 6.4

7.4.1 The allegation is that Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton failed to make decisions 
in an objective and unbiased way. 

7.4.2 The Committee considers that this aspect of the Complainant’s case was 
not touched upon to any great degree either in the Complainant’s original 
complaint, their response to the IO’s report or during the hearing. The 
Complainant has not indicated which specific decisions the two 
Councillors are alleged to have made in a subjective or biased way and 
why. There was reference to the decision to make the loan to ACL and 
the one to sell to Wasps but the Committee recognises that these were 
decisions of the Council, and were not made by either councillor alone. At 
best it has been suggested that the fact that both councillors were fans of 
the football club rendered them incapable of making unbiased and 
objective decisions. In addition it is suggested that Cllr Lucas and Cllr 
Mutton’s participation in the decision of full Council was biased and lacked 
objectivity. 

7.4.3 The Committee is clear that the Code of Conduct is intended to deal with 

Page 15



10

the behaviour of individual councillors and cannot be used as a means to 
attack decisions made by the Council itself or any of its decision making 
bodies, such as Cabinet, committees or individual Cabinet Members. As 
the IO states in his report at paragraph 82 of his report (page 80 of the 
agenda documents): 
“The Code is about Councillors’ Conduct and not the quality of their 
decision making. There may be circumstances where decision making 
could be so unsound that it becomes a breach of the Code, for example, 
where a decision is motivated purely by personal or political factors. 
However, generally the mere fact that a decision is not one which the 
complainant believes the council should have made is never grounds for a 
complaint for the Code. Even where a decision is found on JR to have 
been unlawful it will be rare that this will amount to a failure to comply with 
the Code, so long as the decision is honestly made.”

7.4.4 The Committee agrees with the IO’s conclusion at paragraph 83 of his 
report that “the Councillors, including Councillors Lucas and Mutton, made 
the decision which they did because they honestly believed, on 
professional advice, that it was in the best interests of the Council and the 
council tax payers.” (Page 80 of the agenda documents.)

7.4.5 The Committee considers that the IO’s conclusions (at paragraph 90 of 
his report—page 82 of the agenda documents) that the councillors’ 
association with the football club did not amount to an interest under the 
Code of Conduct is correct.  No evidence has been produced by the 
Complainants to show that any interest needed to be declared. 

7.4.6 The Committee has therefore decided that there are no grounds for 
concluding that Cllr Lucas or Cllr Mutton failed to comply with the Code in 
reaching their decision on the Council’s actions in relation to ACL. 

7.5 Finding at Paragraph 6.5

7.5.1 The allegation is that Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton made public comments 
which were not appropriate for elected members to make and which were 
defamatory of and prejudicial to some or all of the complainants. 

7.5.2 The Committee has taken note of the table of comments produced by the 
Complainants as part of their original complaint. (Pages 48 to 53 of the 
agenda documents) It has, however, only considered those comments 
which are ascribed to either Cllr Mutton or Cllr Lucas and has not 
considered the comments which are ascribed in the table to third parties 
who are not the subject of this hearing.  This is because the Committee’s 
role is to consider whether Cllr Lucas and/or Cllr Mutton have breached 
the Code of Conduct by their actions, behaviour or words. It is not part of 
their remit to consider what others may have said. 

7.5.3 The Committee accepts that the comments ascribed to Cllr Mutton and 
Cllr Lucas in table were in fact made by them with the following 
exceptions: 

Page 16



11

 The Committee accepts Cllr Lucas’ explanation that the comment 
that Coventry City Council should only “deal with SISU when hell 
freezes over” was one that had been put to her by fans of the 
football club. It was not an expression of her own views and she 
was merely reporting what had been said to her; and 

 The Committee accepts that the question “Could SISU sell to 
another shyster” was one raised by another councillor at the 
Labour Group meeting and not made by Cllr Lucas. It also accepts 
Cllr Lucas’ assertion that this was not an expression she would 
have used. 

7.5.4 With regard to Cllr Lucas, apart from the two comments referred to in 
paragraph 7.5.3 above, four other comments are cited in the table 
produced by the Complainants, namely: 

 A press statement dated 12th June 2013 
 An article in the Guardian dated 2nd December 2013
 An article in the Coventry Telegraph dated 27th November 2014
 An article in the Coventry Telegraph dated 15th January 2015 

7.5.5 The Committee accepts Cllr Lucas’ assertion that all of these statements 
were made following advice and input from the Council’s press office and 
legal officers (paragraph 63 at page 75 of the agenda documents).  It can 
find no evidence to suggest that any of these statements were 
inappropriate as they all relate to the Council’s view of the situation at the 
time. They reflect the Council’s policy position and were statements that 
Cllr Lucas was entitled to make in her position as Leader of the Council. 
The Committee found no evidence to support the claim that these 
comments prejudiced the Complainants. While the Committee does not 
think that is for it to rule on whether any of the statements were 
defamatory, it does not consider that any of them could be said to be 
disrespectful. 

7.5.6 With regard to Cllr Mutton, there are a number of comments referred to in 
the table produced by the Complainants namely: 

 An article in the Independent  dated 21st April 2012
 Articles in the Coventry Telegraph dated 23rd April 2012, 23rd May 

2012, 26th May 2012, 30th August 2012, 16th and 17th January 
2013,

 An article in the Coventry Observer dated 26th April 2012
 Articles in the Guardian dated 27th April 2012, 12th December 2012
 Radio interview on 13th March 2013

7.5.7 The Committee has considered these comments very carefully and 
concluded that there is no evidence that the comments reported on 21st 

,26th, 27th April 2012, 23rd and 26th May 2012, 30th August 2012, 12th 
December  2012 and  16th January 2013 were inappropriate as they 
reflected the Council’s view of the situation at the time. While there is a 
certain degree of robustness in the way that Cllr Mutton expressed 
himself on occasions, he was entitled to give his view as Leader of the 

Page 17



12

Council. The Committee found no evidence to support the claim that 
these comments prejudiced the complainants neither did it feel that these 
statements amounted to a lack of respect. 

7.5.8 With regard to Cllr Mutton’s statement on 23rd April, the Committee 
accepts that when Cllr Mutton joined in with the rest of the crowd chanting 
“SISU out”, he was not acting in his capacity as a councillor and so the 
Code did not apply. However when he repeated this to the press, he was 
acting as Leader of the Council and so his remark falls to be considered 
by the Committee. 

7.5.9 The Committee acknowledges that this statement (on 23rd April 2012) and 
that made in the radio interview on 13th March 2103 were in response to 
questions and were not pre-prepared statements.  These, together with 
the statement made on 17th January 2013 are couched in forthright terms. 
In the Committee’s view they indicate a degree of frustration with the 
situation and with what had been difficult negotiations over a period of 
time. The situation was one that had a great deal of public interest and 
attention in the media. Cllr Mutton’s comments must be judged in this 
context. 

7.5.10 The Committee accepts the IO’s conclusions at paragraphs 93 to104 of 
his report (pages 83 to 85 of the agenda documents) that although these 
comments were close to being disrespectful, they did not in fact amount 
to a lack of respect. The comments were a robust expression of Cllr 
Mutton’s honestly held belief about the way in which SISU was operating 
the football club at the time. Neither were they inappropriate in that; 

“It is important that elected politicians are able to comment on issues of 
local concern. This is particularly important when the politician is the 
Leader of the Council and it relates to an issue of  significant public 
interest….The right to freedom of expression is not without limits but 
members must be able to express their opinions in a forthright manner 
without fear that they will be the subject of a complaint under the Code”. 
[Paragraph 103 at page 85].

In addition, the Complainants provided no evidence to support the claim 
that these comments were prejudicial to them.

7.5.11 The Committee accepts that the Complainants did not agree with what 
councillors said but that does not mean that either councillor failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct. Under the circumstances the 
Committee found that none of the comments made by either councillor 
amounted to a breach of the Code. 

7.6 Finding at Paragraph 6.6

7.6.1 The final allegation is that Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton instigated and 
participated in a public smear campaign against the Complainants 
through the media. 

Page 18



13

7.6.2 The Complainants have relied to a large extent on extracts from a series 
of emails, mostly from Weber Shandwick (a PR company) to support their 
claim that there was a public smear campaign against the Complainants, 
and Ms Seppala in particular. These can be found at pages 99 to 127 of 
the agenda documents. The emails are heavily redacted and it is 
therefore difficult to read these in their proper context.

7.6.3 In addition the Complainants have argued that PowerPoint slides at 
weekly briefing meetings at Coventry City Council and minutes of an ACL 
directors’ meeting (Documents 4, 5 and 6 in the 28 October documents) 
show that there was a media campaign against the Complainants and that 
Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton must have instigated and been involved with it. 

7.6.4 The Committee considers that there is no evidence that Weber 
Shandwick was ever instructed by the Council to deal with its PR in 
connection with the Ricoh Arena. The Committee accepts the evidence of 
Fran Collingham, the Council’s Head of Communications that the Council 
does not use PR Consultants and that although she was kept updated 
about what Weber Shandwick were doing and had talked to and met them 
a couple of times,  no joint media releases have been made and  no joint 
publicity had been undertaken. (Paragraph 52 on page 72 of the agenda 
documents). The Complainants have produced no evidence to suggest 
that the Council (as distinct from ACL) was working with Weber 
Shandwick in a media campaign to publicly smear the Complainants.

7.6.5 Weber Shandwick were instructed by ACL and the Council’s Chief 
Executive and Executive Director of Resources were both members of 
ACL’s Board. The Committee considers that in their dealings with Weber 
Shandwick these two officers were acting in their capacity as directors 
and this does not entitle an assumption to be made that therefore Cllr 
Lucas and Cllr Mutton must have had knowledge of and instigated and 
participated in a public smear campaign. 

7.6.6 With regard to the content of the emails from Weber Shandwick, it is not 
possible to know to whom they were sent and the very heavy redaction 
makes it difficult to put their content into context. Nevertheless, the 
Committee has noted the evidence of Chris West that he believed that 
many of the comments made by Weber Shandwick (and which the 
Complainants have drawn to the attention of the Committee during the 
hearing) arose because Weber Shandwick were monitoring a blog called 
Skyblue Talk for ACL. The comments were, in Mr West’s view, a 
summary of what was being said on Skyblue Talk by fans. Mr West also 
believed that where emails had been copied in to council email 
addresses, they would have sent to him and Martin Reeves and possibly 
to Fran Collingham.  He was not aware of Cllr Lucas or Cllr Mutton being 
copied in to these emails. (Paragraph 16, page 214 of the agenda 
documents) Neither Cllr Lucas not Cllr Mutton could recall having any 
dealings with Weber Shandwick.  

Page 19



14

7.6.7 With regard to the PowerPoint slides used at weekly briefings, the 
Committee rejects the claim that these support the allegation that there 
was a deliberate strategy of targeting the Complainants and Joy Seppala 
in particular. The slides give headline points on a number of aspects of 
the Ricoh/ACL matter, including media and PR, but give no indication that 
either the Council ( as opposed to ACL )had instructed Weber Shandwick  
or that  Cllr Lucas or Cllr Mutton  was working with or routinely being 
briefed by them.  While the Committee accepts that the use of the words 
“Council/Higgs/ACL clearly winning the media war” may have been 
unfortunate, they must be seen in the context of the press and media 
attention being paid to this issue at the time. The Committee believes that 
it was to be expected that the Council would develop a media strategy for 
dealing with this issue. 

7.6.8 The minutes of the ACL directors’ meeting indicate that ACL had 
instructed a PR agency and nothing more. In the Committee’s view, it 
cannot be assumed from these minutes that this meant that Cllr Lucas 
and Cllr Mutton had instigated and participated in a public smear 
campaign.  

7.6.9 If there had been a public smear campaign through the media as alleged, 
the Committee thinks that it would be reasonable to see actual examples 
of such tactics being used in the press. While the Complainants have 
produced a table of comments, for reasons set out in Section 7.5 the 
Committee does not accept that these comments were in any way 
inappropriate or lacking in respect. It follows, therefore that it does not 
accept that they amounted to a public smear campaign.

7.6.10 For these reasons the Committee finds that neither Cllr Lucas nor Cllr 
Mutton instigated or participated in a public smear campaign and there 
was therefore no breach of the Code. 

H Sanctions applied

The Committee has found that there was no breach of the Code of 
Conduct by either Cllr Lucas or Cllr Mutton and so no sanctions fall to be 
applied. 

I Appeal

There is no right of appeal against the Committee’s decision.

J Notification of decision

This decision notice is sent to:

Councillor Ann Lucas OBE

Page 20



15

Cllr John Mutton 
Mishcon de Reya, Solicitors on behalf of the Complainants

The decision will also be published on the Council’s website. 

K Additional help

If you need additional support in relation to this decision notice or future 
contact with the City Council, please let us know as soon as possible. If 
you have difficulty reading this notice, we can make reasonable 
adjustments to assist you, in line with the requirements of the Equality Act 
2010. We can also help if English is not your first language. 

Cllr Joseph Clifford 
Chair, Ethics Committee

29th February 2016

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Ethics Committee

24th March 2016

Name of Cabinet Member: 
N/A - Ethics Committee

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Executive Director of Resources

Ward(s) affected:
None

Title: Code of Conduct update

Is this a key decision?
No 

Executive Summary:

This report updates members of the Ethics Committee on any national issues in relation 
to the ethical behaviour of elected members and the local position in Coventry with 
regard to Code of Conduct issues. 

          

Recommendations:

The Ethics Committee is recommended to:
 

1.  Note the cases determined under the new regime nationally and request that the 
the Legal Services Manager, Place and Regulatory in consultation with the Chair 
of the Ethics Committee, shares the case updates with all elected Members; and

2.  Note the local position relating to the operation of the Council’s Code of Conduct 
and to delegate any actions arising from these to the Legal Services Manager, 
Place and Regulatory in consultation with the Chair of the Ethics Committee. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



2

List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1: Decision Notices in respect of standards hearings held by other authorities 

Appendix 2: Decision Notice in respect of hearing held by the Ethics Committee on 30th 
November 2015 and 29th February 2016 

Other useful background papers can be found at the following web addresses:
None

        
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
No 

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory 
Panel or other body?
No 

Will this report go to Council?
No

Page 24



3

Report title: Code of Conduct update

1. Context (or background)

1.1 The Council's Ethics Committee agreed that the Monitoring Officer would provide a 
regular update on cases relating to the Members’ Code of Conduct on a national 
basis. This is to facilitate the Ethics Committee’s role in assisting the Council with 
its duties under section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 to promote and maintain high 
standards of member conduct.

1.2 The national picture

1.2.1 Since the abolition of the Standards Board for England, national statistics and case 
reports are no longer collated. Therefore the cases reported are taken from general 
research. 

1.2.2 Cases reviewed cover breaches of the individual Council’s Code of Conduct in the 
following areas: failing to treat others with respect, bullying, intimidation of a 
complainant and bringing the councillor’s office or authority into disrepute.

1.2.3 Cllr L: Colchester Council 

In this case Cllr L received a penalty charge notice for parking in a restricted area. 
He later tweeted about the notice on his Twitter account. A fellow councillor 
complained about the tweet as he considered that it was targeting officers. . Cllr L, 
on the advice of the Monitoring Officer, deleted his tweet and apologised. He said 
his tweet was aimed at the parking enforcement company rather than individual 
employees. The complainant was not satisfied and the matter went to a hearing.

At the hearing the Council’s Governance Committee decided that Cllr L had been 
acting in his personal capacity when he tweeted the remark and so the Code of 
Conduct did not apply. However the Governance Committee made a number of 
recommendations regarding training for elected members which arose from the fact 
that Cllr L was relatively newly elected, he had been offered, but failed to attend, 
training on the Code of Conduct and he was a member of the Governance 
Committee itself. 

The case shows that the increasing use of social media can lead to complaints 
about councillors and the importance of training for all members but especially 
those sitting on standards or ethics committees. 

A copy of the Decision Notice is set out in Appendix 1. 

1.2.4 Cllr H: Twin Rivers Parish Council 
Page 25



4

This was a complaint about a parish councillor where it was alleged that during the 
course of a discussion on site with another parish councillor, Cllr H failed to treat 
others with respect, was guilty of bullying behaviour and brought his office or 
authority in to disrepute.

After investigation, it was concluded that there had been no breach of the parish 
council’s Code of Conduct. What is interesting about this case is that the complaint 
was made, not by the parish councillor who was alleged to have been bullied, but 
by another parish councillor who was not present at the meeting and who appears 
to have made the complaint after a discussion about the matter at a parish council 
meeting. 

The full decision notice is set out in Appendix 1. 

1.2.6 Cllr B: Oldham Council 

An investigation was carried out on behalf of Oldham Council into a complaint by a 
member of the public that a councillor:
(a) Tried to obtain the complainant’s email address from others
(b) Approached the complainant in Manchester city centre
(c) Approached the complainant on his way home in a manner calculated to 

intimidate him. 

The investigator concluded that there was no breach of the Code of Conduct in 
connection with points (a) and (b) but that with regard to (c), the councillor had 
breached the Code by:
(1) failing to treat the complainant with respect; 
(2) bullying the complainant;
(3) intimidating someone who was likely to be a complainant in an alleged breach of 

the Code; and 
(4) bringing their office or authority into disrepute.

The Sub-Committee decided that Cllr Bates had breached the Code of Conduct in 
respect of (1), (2) and (3) but not (4). The Sub-Committee decided to:
(i)   Publish its findings on the Council’s website;
(ii)  Report its findings to Council;
(iii) Require the councillor to undertake training; and
(iv) Censure the councillor.
 The full decision notice is set out in Appendix 1 to this report.

 
1.3 The local picture

1.3.1 At its meeting on the 20th February 2014, the Ethics Committee requested that the 
Monitoring Officer report regularly on any complaints received relating to Members 
of Coventry City Council. 

Page 26



5

1.3.2 The Monitoring Officer has received six new complaints, since the date of the last 
Committee meeting: 

(a) three complaints about a councillor’s behaviour at a council meeting. The 
complaints have been dealt with under Stage 1 of the Protocol and no further 
action will be taken; 

(b) a complaint alleging that a councillor had unduly influenced members of a 
committee in their decision-making. The complaint has been dealt with under 
Stage 1 of the Protocol and no further action will be taken; 

(c) a complaint about a councillor’s behaviour in public. This matter is currently 
being investigated; and

(d) a complaint that a councillor disclosed information without authority. This matter 
is to be resolved by way of an apology and training. 

1.3.3 All complaints are handled in accordance with the agreed Complaints Protocol. No 
findings have been made by the Local Government Ombudsman in relation 
members of Coventry City Council. No complaints have been received by the 
Monitoring Officer in respect of Allesley or Keresley Parish Councils. 

1.3.4 The Committee will also be aware that since its last meeting it has held a hearing 
over two days into complaints against two councillors on behalf of various 
complainants. A copy of the Decision Notice relating to the hearing is attached at 
Appendix 2.  

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

Members of the Committee are asked to:  

(a)  Note the cases determined under the new regime nationally and request that  
the Legal Services Manager ,Place and Regulatory,  in consultation with the 
Chair of the Ethics Committee bring the case summaries to the attention of all 
elected Members; and

(b)  Note the local position relating to the operation of the Council’s Code of 
Conduct and to delegate any actions arising from these to the Legal Services 
Manager, Place and Regulatory, in consultation with the Chair of the Ethics 
Committee. 

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 There has been no consultation as there is no proposal to implement at this stage 
which would require a consultation.

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

Page 27



6

4.1 The case summaries will be shared with all elected Members as soon as possible 
and in any event before the next meeting of the Committee. 

5. Comments from Executive Director, Resources

5.1 Financial implications
There are no specific financial implications arising from the recommendations within 
this report.

5.2    Legal implications
There are no specific legal implications arising from this report. The issues referred 
to in this report will assist the Council in complying with its obligations under section 
27 of the Localism Act 2011.

6 Other implications
None

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's key objectives / 
corporate priorities (corporate plan/scorecard) / organisational blueprint / 
Local Area Agreement (or Coventry Sustainable Community Strategy)?

Not applicable.

6.2 How is risk being managed?

There is no direct risk to the organisation as a result of the contents of this report.

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

No direct impact at this stage

6.4 Equalities / EIA
There are no pubic sector equality duties which are of relevance at this stage.  

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment
None

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

None at this stage

Report author(s):   Carol Bradford

Name and job title: Lawyer, Place & Regulatory Team, Legal and Democratic Services
Directorate: Resources
Tel and email contact: 02476 833976 carol.bradford@coventry.gov.uk 

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Page 28

mailto:carol.bradford@coventry.gov.uk


7

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Gurdip Paddan Governance 

Services Officer
Resources 15.3.16 16.03.16

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers and 
members)
Finance: Kathryn Sutherland Resources 15.3.16 15.3.16

Legal: Helen Lynch Legal Services 
Manager (Place 
and Regulatory)

Resources 15.3.16 15.3.16

Director: Chris West Resources 15.3.16 15.3.16

This report is published on the council's website:
www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings

Page 29



8

Appendix 1

1. Councillor L : Colchester Borough Council 

The Committee considered the contents of a report by the Monitoring Officer 
requesting the Committee to consider a complaint received in relation to Councillor L. 

Councillor G had made a complaint regarding a tweet that had been posted by Councillor 
L on his Twitter account following his receipt of a penalty charge notice for parking in a 
restricted area. Following a request by the Monitoring Officer, Councillor L had deleted 
his original tweet and published an apology on his Twitter account confirmed that his 
post had been aimed at the North Essex Parking Partnership (NEPP) as an organisation 
rather than at officers. 

Councillor G did not find the apology acceptable which prompted the Monitoring Officer 
to take advice from the Council’s Independent Persons who were appointed under the 
Localism Act to advise on Member Conduct issues. The Independent Persons agreed 
that, in view of the language used and that Councillor L was a member of the 
Governance Committee that the complaint should be referred to the Committee in 
accordance with the Council’s Localism Act Arrangements.

The report also included a statement on the complaint from Councillor L and a letter from 
JN, a former Parliamentary candidate, to the Committee members. Under the Localism 
Act the Council had a duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by 
members and co-opted members of the authority. In order to discharge this duty the 
council had adopted a Code of Conduct for Members which set out the conduct expected 
of members and co-opted members of the authority when they were acting in that 
capacity. 

Councillor L had been elected to the Council in May 2015 and, although the Monitoring 
Officer had offered all new councillors Code of Conduct training, he had not attended. 
The Committee needed to decide whether Councillor L’s conduct amounted to a breach 
of the Code of Conduct for Members and if so, after taking advice from the Independent 
Persons, whether the complaint:

(a) merited no further investigation
(b) merited further investigation

The report also gave examples of possible actions available to the Committee in the 
event it determined that Councillor L’s conduct was outside of the remit of the Code of 
Conduct for Members and that no further investigation was merited. 

Councillor G attended the meeting and, with the consent of the Chairman, addressed the 
Committee. He explained that he did not consider the apology posted by Councillor L to 
be satisfactory and confirmed his Portfolio Holder responsibilities included the NEPP 
and, as such, his complaint had not been politically motivated. He voiced his concerns 
about encouraging abuse of council staff and that Councillor L had failed to acknowledge 
how his tweet may have been interpreted. He also referred to the comments made by 
Councillor W and Braintree District Councillor M which, in his view, acknowledged that 
that the complaint had been justified. 

Page 30



9

Councillor L attended the meeting and, with the consent of the Chairman addressed the 
Committee. He explained that he had recognized that the language he had used in his 
tweet had been offensive and he had regretted it. He also considered that his tweet had 
been sent in his personal capacity and had not been intended as a criticism of an officer. 
He referred to a further tweet that he had sent in order to emphasise his apology 
acknowledging he had been at fault and which had been received by all his followers. 

He had been unaware of the complaint until nine days after it had been made and 
explained that he would have reached out personally to resolve the matter. He had opted 
to engage a barrister as initially he did not know the nature of the complaint or the 
identity of the complainant. His statement to the Committee included details of a legal 
precedent which supported his assertion that he had acted in his personal capacity and 
he stated his view that the matter would be overturned if it were considered at a tribunal. 
He considered he had placed on record a full apology for his inappropriate language and 
he confirmed he would be far more circumspect in future.

Discussion took place regarding the capacity in which Councillor L had been acting and 
as to whether any action needed to be imposed. Matters of particular consideration 
related to:

 Councillor L’s future membership of the Governance Committee;
 The maintenance of high standards of conduct by members of the Governance 

Committee;
 The difficult job undertaken by the Civil Enforcement Officers and the instances of 

violence and abuse experienced by them whilst performing their duties;
 The position of Councillors generally and those other members of the Governance 

Committee in relation to up to date Code of Conduct training;
 The need to consider an additional requirement for Code of Conduct training in 

the same way that Licensing and Planning training are deemed to be 
requirements to membership of the Licensing and Planning Committees;

 The potential for Group leaders to be given the responsibility for ensuring Group 
members comply with corporate training requirements;

 Councillor L’s full apology given in his representation to the meeting;
 The justifiable grounds for the complaint made by Councillor G;
 Councillor L’s confirmation that he had intended no criticism of the Civil 

Enforcement Officers.

RESOLVED (UNANIMOUSLY) that-

(i) Councillor L had not acted in his capacity as a Councillor;

(ii) Councillor L be required to undertake training in the Code of Conduct from the 
Monitoring Officer within a period of 28 days from the date of this meeting;

(iii) Other Councillors elected in 2015 as well as members of this Committee who had 
also not attended Code of Conduct training also be invited to do so by the 
Monitoring Officer within a period of 28 days from the date of this meeting;

(iv) The Monitoring Officer be requested to report back on Councillors’ Code of 
Conduct training status at the Committee’s meeting on 24 November 2015;

Page 31



10

(v) Attendance on at least one Code of Conduct training session be a requirement for 
future membership of the Governance Committee.

2. Councillor H: Twin Rivers Parish Council 

1. Background

1.1 In accordance with arrangements made under Section 28(6) of the Localism Act 
2011, the complaint was referred to the Monitoring Officer of East Riding of 
Yorkshire Council for investigation. Mr JW (Senior Committee Manager) was 
appointed to investigate.

1.2 The complainant has alleged that Councillor H has behaved improperly in his actions 
when dealing with a fellow councillor (Councillor B) and has thereby breached the Code 
of Conduct.

1.3 Since the submission of the complaint Councillor B has resigned from the Parish 
Council but for ease of purpose he is still referred to as Councillor B throughout this 
report.

2. Code of Conduct

2.1 The relevant paragraphs of the Code of Conduct as adopted by Twin Rivers Parish 
Council on 18 September 2012 are paragraphs 2(1), 2(2) and 2(3).

2.2 Paragraph 2(1) states:-
You must treat others with respect

2.3 Paragraph 2(2) states:-
You must not bully any person.

2.4 Paragraph 2(3) states:-
You must not conduct yourself in a manner that could reasonably be regarded as 
bringing your office or authority into disrepute.

3. The Complaint

3.1 Councillor R, the complainant alleges that on Wednesday 7 January 2015, 
Councillor H went to Ousefleet play area following a request to attend by 
Councillor W.

3.2 According to the complainant this was a deliberate attempt to gang up on a 
member of the public, Mrs X as well as Councillor B who were also at the site.

3.3 The complainant alleges that Councillor H, who was accompanied by his 
Alsatian dog “went for” Councillor B. Councillor B was accompanied by his son, 
at the time of the alleged attack.

3.4 The dispute is claimed to have arisen from differing views concerning the play 
area and the installation of play equipment which Councillors H and W were 
allegedly against.

Page 32



11

3.5 The complainant was not a witness to the alleged incident.

3.6 The investigation has concentrated on the issues referred to in paragraphs 3.1 
to 3.5.

4. Information Received

4.1 The Investigating Officer wrote to the various parties including the two persons 
who were the subject of the alleged incident to seek further information.

4.2 In his response Councillor H has confirmed that he attended Ousefleet play area 
on 7 January 2015. He was walking his dog when Councillor W contacted him to 
meet at the site in order to review the positioning of a zip wire which had not 
been agreed by the Parish Council.

4.3 He confirmed that whilst there Councillor W spoke with Mrs X, a member of the 
public but that he was unable to hear any of this exchange.

4.4 Mrs X’s children were also in the vicinity of the site however they were in a car 
which was parked a little way away.

4.5 Councillor H confirmed that Councillor B was also present however he was not 
aware whether he was accompanied by a child or not. If Councillor B’s child was 
present he surmised that the child must have been in Councillor B’s car.

4.6 With regard to the claim that Councillor H “went for” Councillor B with his dog, 
Councillor H states that his dog ‘certainly did not “have a go”’, that the dog had 
been trained to be friendly to people and did not show aggression.

4.7 Councillor H spoke to Councillor B about the positioning of the additional zip wire 
and that its placement would impact on other uses of the field, particularly the 
available space to position the marquee for the annual village show. During this 
exchange Councillor H advised that both parties used some strong language 
when putting their views across but that this was as far as it went.

4.8 Councillor H has also advised that as far as he was aware there were no other 
witnesses to the alleged incident.

4.9 In a further response Councillor H has advised that he had never been against 
the play area and felt it was of great benefit to the community as a whole and 
willingly took his turn to voluntarily mow the grass around the play equipment.

4.10 Councillor H’s presence at the play area on 7 January 2015 solely arose 
because of the need to monitor the development to ensure it complied with the 
development stipulations. His interest arose from his role of Vice Chairman of 
the Ousefleet Show Committee.

4.11 Councillor W has responded to confirm that she had been in contact with 
Councillor B by telephone when she had voiced concern about two elements of 
the play equipment relating to its siting and the fact that there was a funeral 
scheduled for 14 January 2015 and that she felt it would be appropriate if the 
work ceased on that date until after the funeral.

Page 33



12

4.12 She also advised that Councillor B met with her at the site on 7 January 2015 as 
well as Councillor H. A member of the public, Mrs X, also attended, who spoke 
with Councillor W.

4.13 According to Councillor W, Councillors B and H walked around the corner of the 
hall onto the main field. Councillor H had his dog with him on a tight lead, 
however Councillor W was unable to hear the nature of the conversation, nor 
see them properly.

4.14 Councillor W also advised that Mrs X’s children were in her car whilst Councillor 
B’s youngest child was also in a car. She believed none of them would have 
been able to hear the conversation, as being a cold day both cars had their 
windows shut.

4.15 To the best of Councillor W’s knowledge Councillor H’s dog did not attack 
Councillor B. Councillor W spoke with Councillor B later on but he did not make 
any reference to any problems with Councillor H’s dog.

4.16 Councillor W has also indicated that there may have been two other people 
adjacent to the site at a farm gate opposite the hall who may have observed 
Councillors B and H when they wandered around the hall to talk further.

4.17 Mrs X has confirmed that she visited the play site on 7 January 2015.

4.18 She had visited the play area to check on the progress of the construction and 
also because she had been telephoned that day because Councillor H had 
alleged that the location of the play equipment had been moved from the original 
design.

4.19 Mrs X had picked up her children from school at 3.30pm and then driven to the 
site. On arriving she parked up and started to approach the site staff to discuss 
how the work had progressed that day.

4.20 Councillor W allegedly stopped Mrs X on the ramp to the village hall and started 
to speak with her. Mrs X was not accompanied by her children who had 
remained in the car but they could see the exchange but she did not think that 
they would have been able to hear it.

4.21 Mrs X states that Councillor B was also at the site as well as Councillor H who 
was accompanied by his dog.

4.22 Whilst Councillor W was speaking with Mrs X, Councillors B and H walked 
around the village hall however she did not know if Councillor H’s dog had “gone 
for” Councillor B. She was aware of raised voices but was unable to overhear 
what was said.

4.23 Mrs X was unable to recall whether Councillor B was accompanied by a child or 
not.

4.24 At the start of the exchange there were operatives at the site from Wickstead, 

Page 34



13

the company that was installing the equipment but they got into their van shortly 
afterwards. As far as Mrs X was aware there was no one else at the site who 
may have witnessed the incident.

4.25 Councillor B has also responded with his recollection about the incident. He 
visited the play area on 7 January 2015. Mrs X was present at the site as were 
her children and Councillors H and W.

4.26 The contractors were on site and had commenced the work. There was an issue 
concerning the placement of some of the play equipment and some people were 
upset and angry that the development of the play area was proceeding.

4.27 On arrival at the site Councillor W confronted Mrs X following which Councillor H 
started to add his views as well as waving his stick, so Councillor B thought it 
politic to split the group up and therefore took Councillor H around the side of 
the village hall to continue the discussion. At this stage Councillor H’s dog 
started to jump and bark which may have looked worse than it was but it was 
just boisterousness on the part of the dog.

4.28 Following this, according to Councillor B, Councillor H calmed down and 
although he was rude he refrained from raising his voice and using bad 
language and although the exchange was heated it was a sensible conversation 
and Councillor H listened to and accepted that elements of the play area 
scheme were still being worked on and accepted the assurance from Councillor 
B that the play area was not going to extend the whole width of the field.

4.29 As far as Councillor B can recall, other than the participants in the exchange, 
there were no other witnesses present. He also confirmed that Mrs X’s children 
and his son had stayed in their respective parents’ parked cars.

4.30 Further information has also been sought from the complainant who has 
confirmed that Mr and Mrs X and Councillor B had informed him about the 
incident. It was also discussed at a Parish Council meeting on 20 January 2015 
where it was determined that Councillor R should submit a complaint to the 
Monitoring Officer.

5. Findings of Fact

5.1 The findings of fact in relation to paragraphs 3.1 to 3.5 above are as follows:-

(a) Councillor H is a member of Twin Rivers Parish Council.
(b) Councillor H met Councillor W at the Ousefleet play area on 7 January 2015.
(c) Mrs X, a member of the public, was at the play area on 7 January 2015.
(d) Mrs X was accompanied by her two children who were in a nearby parked 

car.
(e) Councillor B was at the play area on 7 January 2015.
(f) Councillor B was accompanied by his son who was in a nearby parked car.
(g) Councillor H was accompanied by his dog.
(h) Councillors B and H wandered off and discussed the play site.
(i) Twin Rivers Parish Council has adopted a Code of Conduct.

Page 35



14

6. Reasoning

6.1 Evidence has been sought to ascertain if Councillor H has broken any elements 
of the Code of Conduct identified in paragraph 2 of this report.

6.2 It has been confirmed by all parties involved that a meeting was held at the 
Ousefleet play area on 7 January 2015 at which Councillors B, H and W and 
Mrs X were all present. It has not been possible to confirm with any certainty 
whether any other witnesses were present. Three of the attendees believe there 
was no one else in the vicinity. Although there were contract workers on site 
these were in the process of leaving the site at the time of the meeting. 
Councillor W refers to the possible presence of two people who may have been 
able to observe Councillors B and H however this line of enquiry has not been 
pursued as the statements from both Councillors are not contradictory and 
therefore would not appear to require any further validation. 

6.3 The purpose of the meeting was to discuss the development of the play area 
including concerns that it was encroaching on land beyond its development limit.

6.4 Both Councillors B and H have confirmed that following the initial meeting the 
two of them wandered away from Mrs X and Councillor W continue their own 
conversation.

6.5 Both parties confirm that this was a robust discussion but that both had the 
opportunity to make their views known and according to Councillor B although 
heated, it was a sensible exchange following which there appeared to be a 
semblance of understanding between them as a result of it.

6.6 Both parties are also pretty clear in their comments that Councillor H’s dog did 
not “go for” Councillor B; with Councillor B describing the dog as boisterous 
which he believed from a distance may have looked worse than it in fact was. 
Councillor W has also advised that Councillor H made no reference to any such 
incident when she subsequently spoke with him.

6.7 From the perspective of the Investigating Officer it is difficult to conclude that 
Councillor H has breached paragraph 2(1) of the Code of Conduct by treating 
others with a lack of respect. There appears to have been very limited 
interaction between Councillor H and Mrs X at the site and no communication 
exchange that either party refers to.

6.8 In terms of the exchange between Councillors B and H both concede that it was 
a frank exchange but that both parties were able to make their views known and 
explain their position. According to Councillor B there was a sensible exchange 
with a degree of understanding achieved on both sides. This exchange does not 
have the feel of one where there was a lack of respect shown, particularly if both 
sides were able to get their points of view across. Additionally there is an 
understanding that at times discussions between politicians can be robust and 
that this reflects the rough and tumble of political life particularly where parties 
hold differing views on an issue.

6.9 In terms of paragraph 2(2) and the suggestion that Councillor H bullied 
Page 36



15

Councillor B, this also appears unlikely. Both parties state that there was an 
exchange of views by both sides. The Investigating Officer feels this would not 
have occurred if Councillor B felt in any way cowed by Councillor H. The claim 
that Councillor H’s dog may have been used as a means of intimidating 
Councillor B appears to have been a misunderstanding based upon the 
boisterousness of the dog rather than any intent on Councillor H’s part to use the 
dog aggressively against Councillor B. Councillor B refers to the lively nature of 
the dog whilst Councillor W states that no reference was made by Councillor B 
to the dog being threatening in a later conversation between the two. The 
Investigating Officer feels that if something as significant as a threat from a dog 
had been made, then reference would have been made to it by Councillor B in 
his response to the Investigating Officer and it is also likely that it would be the 
subject of any conversation that subsequently took place between Councillors B 
and W. It would appear that the claim is based upon a misinterpretation of the 
dog’s boisterousness.

6.10 It has also been suggested within the complaint that Councillor H has misused 
his position in that he was against the development of the play area but had not 
declared his position. There is no requirement for a councillor to declare their 
position in relation to an issue and they can also continue to hold and maintain 
such a view as well as pursuing issues to support it. Councillor H has advised 
that he had not and never had been against the play area which he feels is of 
great benefit to the community as a whole and that he willingly takes his turn in 
voluntarily mowing the grass around the play equipment. His actions, such as 
visiting the site formed part of this role of monitoring the development and 
ensuring that it complied with the development stipulations which is an entirely 
appropriate role for him to take.

7. Additional Information

7.1 The draft report was circulated to the complainant and Councillor H for their 
comments.

7.2 In his response Councillor R (the complainant) has stated that:-
“I did not intend the wording Mr H and his dog went for Mr B to insinuate that Mr 
H’s dog tried to attack Mr B. I meant it in the terms that Miss W went to talk to 
Mrs X and Mr H with his dog went to talk to Mr B. I am sorry that this wording 
was misunderstood, and have only just realised it was taken that way on reading 
this report. Can it be please be made clear to all concerned that it was not my 
intention that I was accusing Mr H’s dog of trying to attack Mr B”.

7.3 The Investigating Officer acknowledges the comments relating to Councillor H’s 
dog and that there has been a misunderstanding in relation to the wording of the 
complaint in relation to Councillor H’s dog and therefore the inclusion of this 
clarification within the report.

7.4 Councillor H, in his response confirmed that he had never been against the 
proposed play area and that his presence at the site was to monitor the 
development and ensure it complied with the development stipulations.

7.5 In terms of the impact of these additional comments there is nothing within them 
Page 37



16

that would alter the findings or conclusions of the Investigating Officer.

8. Independent Person’s Comments

8.1 A copy of the report was forwarded to the Independent Person for comment and 
those comments are detailed below at paragraph 8.2

8.2 ‘The alleged complaint is that Councillor H has behaved improperly when 
dealing with Councillor B. It is noted the complaint was not actually submitted by 
Councillor B. Councillor B states in his correspondence with the investigating 
officer that in relation to the discussion when there were just the two of them that 
“…although he was rude he refrained from raising his voice and using bad 
language, in fact although it was heated it was a sensible conversation and Mr H 
listened…”. This does not have the tone of someone who feels he was being 
‘ganged up on’. The investigating officer refers to the rough and tumble of 
political life and this seems a pragmatic phrase to encapsulate the exchange of 
views as neither Councillor has adopted an accusatory tone in investigation 
replies. The documentation from all parties makes little reference to a dialogue 
between Councillor H and Mrs X. It appears to have been a very short 
conversation. He may have been waving his walking stick around whilst talking 
but Mrs X raises no concern about this in her response to the investigating office 
dated 22/09/2015. Both that response and the response of Councillor W of 
29/08/2015 however, refer to swearing on the part of Councillor W during the 
exchange between Councillor W and Mrs X. This again does not evidence an 
intention to ‘gang up on’ a member of the public on the part of Councillor H. It is 
the recommendation of the investigating officer that no further action be taken as 
it has not been established that Councillor H has breached the Code of Conduct 
of Twin Rivers Parish Council. I endorse this recommendation’.

9.  Conclusion

9.1 From all the information available it is concluded that there has not been a 
breach of paragraphs 2(1), 2(2) and 2(3) of Twin Rivers Parish Council’s Code 
of Conduct.

3. Councillor B:  Oldham Council 

The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Investigating Officer which requested the 
Sub-Committee to consider allegations against a Member, that he had breached the 
Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct.

The Sub-Committee was advised that, following an investigation into the subject 
Member’s alleged breach of the Code of Conduct, the Investigating Officer had 
concluded that:
1.     In April 2015, Councillor B had more likely than not sought to obtain Mr C’s personal 

email address from PK, Acting District Co-ordinator and LG.
Having considered the explanation offered by the subject Member, a reasonable 
person would not consider there had been any failure to comply with the Code of 
Conduct in relation to this matter.

Page 38



17

2.     On 16 April 2015 Councillor B had more likely than not approached Mr C in 
Manchester City Centre.
Having considered the explanation offered by the subject Member, a reasonable 
person would not consider there had been any failure to comply with the Code of 
Conduct in relation to this matter.

3.     In early May 2015, when Mr C was walking home in Failsworth, he had more likely 
than not been approached by Councillor B in a manner that had been calculated to 
intimidate him. A reasonable person would consider the subject matter had 
breached paragraph 3.1, 3.2 (b), 3.2(c) and 5 of the code.

The Sub-Committee took into account the oral and written representations on behalf on 
the Investigating Officer, which set out the details of the complaint.
 
The Sub-Committee agreed with the findings of the Investigating Officer with regard to 
allegations (1) and (2) and RESOLVED that there had been no failure to comply with the 
Code of Conduct in relation to these allegations.
 
With regard to allegation (3), Mr C was called as a witness by the Investigating Officer 
and was questioned by the Subject Member’s representative. The Subject Member did 
not give evidence.
  
The Sub-Committee took into account all of the oral and written evidence before them, 
and unanimously found, on the balance of probabilities, that the Subject Member had 
acted in the manner complained of. The Sub-Committee unanimously found that the 
Subject Member, in acting in this way, had breached the Code of Conduct in that
1.     he failed to treat Mr C with respect (paragraph 3.1),
2.     he bullied Mr C (paragraph 3.2(b)) and
3.     he intimidated a person who was likely to be a complainant in relation to an 

allegation that a Member had failed to comply with the Code of Conduct (paragraph 
3.2(c))

The Sub-Committee unanimously found that the Subject Member’s conduct was not such 
as to reasonably be regarded as bringing his office or the Council into disrepute.
 
Neither the Investigating Officer nor the Subject Member wished to make submissions on 
the matter of sanctions.
 
RESOLVED –
That the following sanctions be unanimously agreed:
1.     The findings (including the Investigating Officer’s report, to be redacted by the 

Monitoring Officer to remove personal data) be published on the website by the 
Council

2.     The findings (and the Investigating Officer’s report) be report to the Council for 
information

3.     Councillor B undertake one to one training on the Code of Conduct.
 
That the following sanction be agreed by the majority (Councillor W dissenting):
1.     It be recommended to the Council that Councillor B be censured.
 

Page 39



18

Appendix 2

COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL

DECISION NOTICE OF ETHICS COMMITTEE

A Complaint by: Mishcon de Reya, Solicitors on behalf of
Arvo Master Funding 
SISU |Capital Limited
Sky Blue Sports and Leisure Limited 
Otium Entertainment Group Limited ( trading as Coventry 
City Football Club)
Ms Joy Seppala
Ms Laura Deering 
(“the Complainants”)

B Subject Members: Councillor Ann Lucas OBE  
                                Councillor John Mutton

C Introduction 

1. On 30th November 2015 and 29th February 2016, the Ethics Committee of 
Coventry City Council considered a report of an investigation into the 
alleged conduct of Cllr Ann Lucas, OBE and Cllr John Mutton, both 
members of Coventry City Council. A general summary of the complaint is 
set out below.

D Complaint summary

2. The Complainants made a number of allegations about the behaviour of 
Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton. These can be summarised as follows:

2.1 Cllr Mutton’s conduct in meetings with Ms Seppala and Ms Deering was 
unacceptable; 

2.2 Cllr Mutton failed to declare relevant interests;

2.3 Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton failed to make decisions in an objective and 
unbiased way;

2.4 Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton made public comments which were not 
appropriate for elected members to make and which were defamatory of, 
and prejudicial to some or all of the Complainants; and 

Page 40



19

2.5 Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton instigated and participated in a public smear 
campaign against the Complainants through the media. 

2.6 The grounds for complaint set out at 2.1 to 2.5 above are taken from 
paragraph 2 of the Complainants’ Response to the Investigating Officer’s 
Report where the alleged breaches of the Code are summarised. 

2.7 In addition, following the publication of the Investigating Officer’s report, 
the Complainants further alleged that the complaints had not been fully or 
properly investigated by the Investigating Officer and that it was 
something of a “whitewash”. They did not accept the findings in the report 
which could not be relied upon because it did not reflect a full and fair 
investigation. In particular there was:

(a) A misunderstanding of the basis of the complaint;
(b) A failure to conduct the investigation properly;
(c) A failure to investigate the complaint fully including a failure to 

request; that Coventry City Council provide all relevant documents;
(d) Insufficient consideration and thought given to the relevant 

evidence;
(e) Introduction of and reliance on irrelevant evidence;
(f) A failure to apply the relevant law properly; and 
(g) Reached incorrect or unsound conclusions. 

E Hearing 

3. The Ethics Committee consisted of:
 Cllr Joe Clifford (Chair)
 Cllr Allan Andrews
 Cllr Linda Bigham
 Cllr Damian Gannon
 Cllr John McNicholas

3.1 The Independent Person, Mr Ken Sloan, attended the hearing. 

3.2 Ms Joy Seppala and Ms Laura Deering (the Complainants) attended the 
hearing and were represented by Ms Fiona Laurence of Mishcon de 
Reya, Solicitors. 

3.3 Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton attended the hearing and Cllr Mutton was 
accompanied by Cllr George Duggins.

3.4 Mr Simon Goacher of Weightmans, Solicitors, the Investigating Officer 
(IO), attended the hearing. 

F Consultation with Independent Person

4. The Independent Person, Mr Ken Sloan, stated in a letter dated 13th 
November 2015 that:

Page 41



20

4.1 “In completing his report, Mr Goacher has remained focussed on the 
allegations brought forward by the complainants insofar as they relate to 
the Coventry City Council Code of Conduct as adopted by the Council in 
July 2012. He states on several occasions that there are matters brought 
forward by the complainants which go beyond the requirements of the 
Code of Conduct but relates his conclusions only on matters as they 
pertain to the allegation of breaches of the Code of Conduct.

4.2 “The report highlights the documents that have been reviewed and the 
interviews that have been conducted. It states that all parties have had 
the opportunity to review the notes of their interviews and confirm that the 
details contained within the notes are accurate. 

4.3 “It is not my role to re-examine or investigate the complaint. I am limiting 
my comments therefore to whether I have concerns on the report or the 
manner in which the investigation has been conducted. I can confirm that 
having read the report I have no concerns regarding it, its conclusions or 
the manner in which it has been conducted.”

5. At the conclusion of the hearing the Independent Person was again asked 
for his views. He made the following points:

5.1 At the time the complaint was made, the issue of the timeliness of some 
of the complaints was raised. He thought it was appropriate to consider 
these complaints even though the last event complaint of was 2 or 3 years 
before the complaint was received. 

5.2 This was a highly complex case and evidence base and it was a 
significant task for the Committee to come to a decision. He 
recommended that the Committee bear in mind at all times the opening 
statement of the Code which talks about the individual councillor agreeing 
to comply with the Code when undertaking their duties as a councillor. 
There was no process in the Code for taking into account the actions or 
roles of other bodies or of council officers. The Committee should be 
absolutely clear about the part played by Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton 
individually and their actions. 

F Findings

6. After considering the submissions of the parties to the hearing and the 
views of the Independent Person, the Committee reached the following 
decision(s):

6.1 On the question of whether the investigation and report of the 
Investigating Officer were flawed:

The Committee found that the Investigation and report of the Investigating 
Officer was sufficient for the purposes of establishing whether any 
breaches of the Code of Conduct occurred. 

Page 42



21

6.2 Whether Cllr Mutton’s conduct in meetings with Ms Seppala and Ms 
Deering was unacceptable:

The Committee found that there was insufficient evidence to show that 
Cllr Mutton’s behaviour was unacceptable and there was no breach of the 
Code of Conduct. 

6.3 Whether there was a failure by Cllr Mutton to declare relevant 
interests:

The Committee concluded that Cllr Mutton did not fail to declare his 
interest as it was not one that he needed to declare. There was therefore 
no breach of the Code of Conduct 

6.4 Whether there was a failure by both councillors to make decisions in 
an objective and unbiased way:

The Committee decided that there was no failure by either councillor to 
make decisions in an objective or unbiased way. There was therefore no 
breach of the Code of Conduct.

6.5 Whether Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton made public comments which 
were not appropriate for elected members to make and which were 
defamatory of and prejudicial to some or all of the complainants:

The Committee did not consider that the comments made by either 
councillor amounted to a breach of the Code of Conduct.

6.6 Whether Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton  instigated and participated in a 
public smear campaign against the Complainants through the 
media: 

The Committee concluded that there is no evidence that either councillor 
instigated or participated in a public smear campaign against the 
complainants. There was therefore no breach of the Code of Conduct.

G Reasons

7. The Committee’s reasons for reaching its decision are as follows:

7.1 Finding at Paragraph 6.1 

7.1.1 The Complainants have alleged that the investigation and report of the 
Investigating Officer were flawed. The Committee heard representations 
on this point from the Complainants and the Investigating Officer.

7.1.2 The Committee is mindful that the local standards regime as set out in the 
Localism Act 2011 gives councils a certain amount of freedom in the way 
in which it investigates complaints about councillors’ behaviour but  at the 

Page 43



22

same time the range of sanctions available to them is significantly smaller 
and weaker than it was under the previous regime. It is intended to be a 
light touch regime. 

7.1.3 It is against this backdrop that the Committee has considered whether the 
investigation and report are sufficient for the purposes of coming to a view 
on whether there have been any breaches of the Code of Conduct.

7.1.4 The Committee has heard the Complainants’ arguments that the 
Investigating Officer should have interviewed other potential witnesses, 
sought out additional documents and possibly asked additional questions 
of witnesses who were interviewed. However, it should be remembered 
that this was the Complainants’ complaint and they were afforded every 
opportunity to put their case, both in writing and in interview.  It was for 
the IO to determine who should be interviewed and the Committee 
accepts his view that there was no need to interview other witnesses in 
connection with the complaint. The Committee considers that it was not 
proportionate to expect the IO to ask the Council for additional documents 
in order to support the Complainant’s case. The Committee also accepts 
the Investigating Officer’s view that any investigation needs to be fair and 
proportionate bearing in mind the light touch regime that it forms part of. 

7.1.5 The Committee has taken note of the Independent Person’s views on the 
adequacy or otherwise of the Investigation and Report and in particular 
his observation that the Report has remained focussed on those aspects 
of the Complaint which relate to the Code of Conduct and the behaviour 
of the individual councillors. The Committee can only deal with these 
matters and has no authority to rule on complaints about decisions made 
by the Council itself or by officers. At times the Complaint has strayed into 
trying to ascribe to Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton responsibility for the 
decisions or actions of others. In this respect the Committee agrees that 
the Investigating Officer was right to confine his investigation and report to 
matters which could be dealt with under the Code. 

7.1.6 For these reasons the Committee considers that the Investigation and 
Report are adequate for the purposes of this hearing and it would not be 
fair or proportionate to require further investigation. 

7.2 Finding at Paragraph 6.2

7.2.1 The allegation was that Cllr Mutton’s behaviour in meetings with Ms 
Seppala and Ms Deering was unacceptable. He was said to have been 
“rude, unprofessional, unnecessarily and inappropriately argumentative, 
aggressive and appeared to be sexist as well.” 

7.2.2 The Committee has assumed that the allegation is, therefore, that Cllr 
Mutton breached paragraph 3(j) of the Code of Conduct in that he failed to 
treat people with respect. 

7.2.3 These allegations relate to meetings which took place on 1st and 18th May 
and 24th July 2012. Ms Seppala and Ms Deering were both present at the 

Page 44



23

meetings in May. Ms Deering was present at the July meeting. Ms 
Seppala was not physically present but participated via the telephone. 

7.2.4 The Committee has not had any evidence produced to it that sets out why 
Cllr Mutton’s behaviour was considered to be so unacceptable as to 
constitute a breach of the Code of Conduct. There is no evidence of what 
he is said to have said or done to support the allegation, except that he, 
and Cllr Duggins, had berated both Ms Seppala and Ms Deering for the 
poor performance of the football club. Cllr Mutton has described this 
particular incident as a discussion of the “dire” performance of the football 
club and how things could be turned around. He said that he had not 
expected Ms Seppala or Ms Deering to apologise for the club’s 
performance as they were not responsible for this. 

7.2.5 At the hearing Cllr Mutton accepted that he was robust, but not rude, in 
these meetings. The Committee has also taken note of the accounts of 
Chris West and Cllr Duggins who were both present at those meetings 
and who considered that while the atmosphere of the meetings may have 
been “grumpy” at times, Cllr Mutton had not been rude. The fact that Ms 
Seppala asked Cllr Mutton to give her a hug after one of the meetings 
suggests that the relationship between them was not entirely antagonistic. 

7.2.6 The Committee also noted that although Ms Deering took notes of the 
three meetings at which Cllr Mutton’s behaviour was alleged to be 
unacceptable, those notes do not record any specific incidents. If Cllr 
Mutton’s behaviour was as bad as has been suggested, the Committee 
feels that some note might have been taken of it. (pages 145 to 153 of the 
agenda documents) 

7.2.7 The Committee has also noted that the Complainants did not complain 
about the alleged behaviour until nearly three years after the events 
complained of. While it accepts that the Complainants may not have 
wanted to make a formal complaint while negotiations were still 
continuing, the delay in so doing has contributed to a lack of evidence on 
this aspect of the Complaint. 

7.2.8 The Committee has therefore concluded that there is insufficient evidence 
to support the allegation that Cllr Mutton’s behaviour was unacceptable. 

7.3 Finding at Paragraph 6.3

7.3.1 The allegation is that Cllr Mutton failed to declare in his register of 
interests that he was a trustee of the Alan Higgs Centre Trust. The 
Investigating Officer had concluded that although this was not a 
disclosable pecuniary interest, it fell to be disclosed under Paragraph 
5.1(b) of the Code of Conduct. 

7.3.2 Paragraph 5.1(b) requires councillors to register details of their 
membership of any organisation or body whose rules or requirements of 
membership could be regarded as suggesting a degree of loyalty to that 
organisation or body. This could arise by reason of an organisation having 

Page 45



24

an obligation of secrecy about its rules, its membership or conduct and/or 
a commitment of allegiance or support to that organisation or body. Such 
organisations or bodies may or may not be charitable concerns and they 
may also have a local, regional, national or international aspect. 

7.3.3 The Committee accepts Mr Goacher’s finding that Cllr Mutton, by virtue of 
being a trustee of the Alan Higgs Centre Trust, did not have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest as defined by the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012/1464. 

7.3.4 However, the Committee considered that the wording of paragraph 5.1(b) 
gives a clear indication that it is intended to apply only to membership of 
organisations or bodies whose rules or requirements demand a degree of 
loyalty from its members which is greater than one would normally expect 
from other organisations or bodies. This view is supported by the example 
given in the Code to a body that expects its members to keep its rules 
secret.  While as a trustee Cllr Mutton has a number of legal obligations to 
the Trust, he is not bound to it in the way contemplated by paragraph 
5.1(b).

7.3.5 For these reasons the Committee considers that Cllr Mutton did not 
breach the Code of Conduct as he was under no obligation to register his 
position as trustee as an interest. 

7.4 Finding at Paragraph 6.4

7.4.1 The allegation is that Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton failed to make decisions 
in an objective and unbiased way. 

7.4.2 The Committee considers that this aspect of the Complainant’s case was 
not touched upon to any great degree either in the Complainant’s original 
complaint, their response to the IO’s report or during the hearing. The 
Complainant has not indicated which specific decisions the two 
Councillors are alleged to have made in a subjective or biased way and 
why. There was reference to the decision to make the loan to ACL and 
the one to sell to Wasps but the Committee recognises that these were 
decisions of the Council, and were not made by either councillor alone. At 
best it has been suggested that the fact that both councillors were fans of 
the football club rendered them incapable of making unbiased and 
objective decisions. In addition it is suggested that Cllr Lucas and Cllr 
Mutton’s participation in the decision of full Council was biased and lacked 
objectivity. 

7.4.3 The Committee is clear that the Code of Conduct is intended to deal with 
the behaviour of individual councillors and cannot be used as a means to 
attack decisions made by the Council itself or any of its decision making 
bodies, such as Cabinet, committees or individual Cabinet Members. As 
the IO states in his report at paragraph 82 of his report (page 80 of the 
agenda documents): 
“The Code is about Councillors’ Conduct and not the quality of their 
decision making. There may be circumstances where decision making 

Page 46



25

could be so unsound that it becomes a breach of the Code, for example, 
where a decision is motivated purely by personal or political factors. 
However, generally the mere fact that a decision is not one which the 
complainant believes the council should have made is never grounds for a 
complaint for the Code. Even where a decision is found on JR to have 
been unlawful it will be rare that this will amount to a failure to comply with 
the Code, so long as the decision is honestly made.”

7.4.4 The Committee agrees with the IO’s conclusion at paragraph 83 of his 
report that “the Councillors, including Councillors Lucas and Mutton, made 
the decision which they did because they honestly believed, on 
professional advice, that it was in the best interests of the Council and the 
council tax payers.” (Page 80 of the agenda documents.)

7.4.5 The Committee considers that the IO’s conclusions (at paragraph 90 of 
his report—page 82 of the agenda documents) that the councillors’ 
association with the football club did not amount to an interest under the 
Code of Conduct is correct.  No evidence has been produced by the 
Complainants to show that any interest needed to be declared. 

7.4.6 The Committee has therefore decided that there are no grounds for 
concluding that Cllr Lucas or Cllr Mutton failed to comply with the Code in 
reaching their decision on the Council’s actions in relation to ACL. 

7.5 Finding at Paragraph 6.5

7.5.1 The allegation is that Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton made public comments 
which were not appropriate for elected members to make and which were 
defamatory of and prejudicial to some or all of the complainants. 

7.5.2 The Committee has taken note of the table of comments produced by the 
Complainants as part of their original complaint. (Pages 48 to 53 of the 
agenda documents) It has, however, only considered those comments 
which are ascribed to either Cllr Mutton or Cllr Lucas and has not 
considered the comments which are ascribed in the table to third parties 
who are not the subject of this hearing.  This is because the Committee’s 
role is to consider whether Cllr Lucas and/or Cllr Mutton have breached 
the Code of Conduct by their actions, behaviour or words. It is not part of 
their remit to consider what others may have said. 

7.5.3 The Committee accepts that the comments ascribed to Cllr Mutton and 
Cllr Lucas in table were in fact made by them with the following 
exceptions: 

 The Committee accepts Cllr Lucas’ explanation that the comment 
that Coventry City Council should only “deal with SISU when hell 
freezes over” was one that had been put to her by fans of the 
football club. It was not an expression of her own views and she 
was merely reporting what had been said to her; and 

 The Committee accepts that the question “Could SISU sell to 
another shyster” was one raised by another councillor at the 
Labour Group meeting and not made by Cllr Lucas. It also accepts 

Page 47



26

Cllr Lucas’ assertion that this was not an expression she would 
have used. 

7.5.4 With regard to Cllr Lucas, apart from the two comments referred to in 
paragraph 7.5.3 above, four other comments are cited in the table 
produced by the Complainants, namely: 

 A press statement dated 12th June 2013 
 An article in the Guardian dated 2nd December 2013
 An article in the Coventry Telegraph dated 27th November 2014
 An article in the Coventry Telegraph dated 15th January 2015 

7.5.5 The Committee accepts Cllr Lucas’ assertion that all of these statements 
were made following advice and input from the Council’s press office and 
legal officers (paragraph 63 at page 75 of the agenda documents).  It can 
find no evidence to suggest that any of these statements were 
inappropriate as they all relate to the Council’s view of the situation at the 
time. They reflect the Council’s policy position and were statements that 
Cllr Lucas was entitled to make in her position as Leader of the Council. 
The Committee found no evidence to support the claim that these 
comments prejudiced the Complainants. While the Committee does not 
think that is for it to rule on whether any of the statements were 
defamatory, it does not consider that any of them could be said to be 
disrespectful. 

7.5.6 With regard to Cllr Mutton, there are a number of comments referred to in 
the table produced by the Complainants namely: 

 An article in the Independent  dated 21st April 2012
 Articles in the Coventry Telegraph dated 23rd April 2012, 23rd May 

2012, 26th May 2012, 30th August 2012, 16th and 17th January 
2013,

 An article in the Coventry Observer dated 26th April 2012
 Articles in the Guardian dated 27th April 2012, 12th December 2012
 Radio interview on 13th March 2013

7.5.7 The Committee has considered these comments very carefully and 
concluded that there is no evidence that the comments reported on 21st 

,26th, 27th April 2012, 23rd and 26th May 2012, 30th August 2012, 12th 
December  2012 and  16th January 2013 were inappropriate as they 
reflected the Council’s view of the situation at the time. While there is a 
certain degree of robustness in the way that Cllr Mutton expressed 
himself on occasions, he was entitled to give his view as Leader of the 
Council. The Committee found no evidence to support the claim that 
these comments prejudiced the complainants neither did it feel that these 
statements amounted to a lack of respect. 

7.5.8 With regard to Cllr Mutton’s statement on 23rd April, the Committee 
accepts that when Cllr Mutton joined in with the rest of the crowd chanting 
“SISU out”, he was not acting in his capacity as a councillor and so the 
Code did not apply. However when he repeated this to the press, he was 
acting as Leader of the Council and so his remark falls to be considered 

Page 48



27

by the Committee. 

7.5.9 The Committee acknowledges that this statement (on 23rd April 2012) and 
that made in the radio interview on 13th March 2103 were in response to 
questions and were not pre-prepared statements.  These, together with 
the statement made on 17th January 2013 are couched in forthright terms. 
In the Committee’s view they indicate a degree of frustration with the 
situation and with what had been difficult negotiations over a period of 
time. The situation was one that had a great deal of public interest and 
attention in the media. Cllr Mutton’s comments must be judged in this 
context. 

7.5.10 The Committee accepts the IO’s conclusions at paragraphs 93 to104 of 
his report (pages 83 to 85 of the agenda documents) that although these 
comments were close to being disrespectful, they did not in fact amount 
to a lack of respect. The comments were a robust expression of Cllr 
Mutton’s honestly held belief about the way in which SISU was operating 
the football club at the time. Neither were they inappropriate in that; 

“It is important that elected politicians are able to comment on issues of 
local concern. This is particularly important when the politician is the 
Leader of the Council and it relates to an issue of  significant public 
interest….The right to freedom of expression is not without limits but 
members must be able to express their opinions in a forthright manner 
without fear that they will be the subject of a complaint under the Code”. 
[Paragraph 103 at page 85].

In addition, the Complainants provided no evidence to support the claim 
that these comments were prejudicial to them.

7.5.11 The Committee accepts that the Complainants did not agree with what 
councillors said but that does not mean that either councillor failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct. Under the circumstances the 
Committee found that none of the comments made by either councillor 
amounted to a breach of the Code. 

7.6 Finding at Paragraph 6.6

7.6.1 The final allegation is that Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton instigated and 
participated in a public smear campaign against the Complainants 
through the media. 

7.6.2 The Complainants have relied to a large extent on extracts from a series 
of emails, mostly from Weber Shandwick (a PR company) to support their 
claim that there was a public smear campaign against the Complainants, 
and Ms Seppala in particular. These can be found at pages 99 to 127 of 
the agenda documents. The emails are heavily redacted and it is 
therefore difficult to read these in their proper context.

7.6.3 In addition the Complainants have argued that PowerPoint slides at 
weekly briefing meetings at Coventry City Council and minutes of an ACL 

Page 49



28

directors’ meeting (Documents 4, 5 and 6 in the 28 October documents) 
show that there was a media campaign against the Complainants and that 
Cllr Lucas and Cllr Mutton must have instigated and been involved with it. 

7.6.4 The Committee considers that there is no evidence that Weber 
Shandwick was ever instructed by the Council to deal with its PR in 
connection with the Ricoh Arena. The Committee accepts the evidence of 
Fran Collingham, the Council’s Head of Communications that the Council 
does not use PR Consultants and that although she was kept updated 
about what Weber Shandwick were doing and had talked to and met them 
a couple of times,  no joint media releases have been made and  no joint 
publicity had been undertaken. (Paragraph 52 on page 72 of the agenda 
documents). The Complainants have produced no evidence to suggest 
that the Council (as distinct from ACL) was working with Weber 
Shandwick in a media campaign to publicly smear the Complainants.

7.6.5 Weber Shandwick were instructed by ACL and the Council’s Chief 
Executive and Executive Director of Resources were both members of 
ACL’s Board. The Committee considers that in their dealings with Weber 
Shandwick these two officers were acting in their capacity as directors 
and this does not entitle an assumption to be made that therefore Cllr 
Lucas and Cllr Mutton must have had knowledge of and instigated and 
participated in a public smear campaign. 

7.6.6 With regard to the content of the emails from Weber Shandwick, it is not 
possible to know to whom they were sent and the very heavy redaction 
makes it difficult to put their content into context. Nevertheless, the 
Committee has noted the evidence of Chris West that he believed that 
many of the comments made by Weber Shandwick (and which the 
Complainants have drawn to the attention of the Committee during the 
hearing) arose because Weber Shandwick were monitoring a blog called 
Skyblue Talk for ACL. The comments were, in Mr West’s view, a 
summary of what was being said on Skyblue Talk by fans. Mr West also 
believed that where emails had been copied in to council email 
addresses, they would have sent to him and Martin Reeves and possibly 
to Fran Collingham.  He was not aware of Cllr Lucas or Cllr Mutton being 
copied in to these emails. (Paragraph 16, page 214 of the agenda 
documents) Neither Cllr Lucas not Cllr Mutton could recall having any 
dealings with Weber Shandwick.  

7.6.7 With regard to the PowerPoint slides used at weekly briefings, the 
Committee rejects the claim that these support the allegation that there 
was a deliberate strategy of targeting the Complainants and Joy Seppala 
in particular. The slides give headline points on a number of aspects of 
the Ricoh/ACL matter, including media and PR, but give no indication that 
either the Council ( as opposed to ACL )had instructed Weber Shandwick  
or that  Cllr Lucas or Cllr Mutton  was working with or routinely being 
briefed by them.  While the Committee accepts that the use of the words 
“Council/Higgs/ACL clearly winning the media war” may have been 
unfortunate, they must be seen in the context of the press and media 
attention being paid to this issue at the time. The Committee believes that 

Page 50



29

it was to be expected that the Council would develop a media strategy for 
dealing with this issue. 

7.6.8 The minutes of the ACL directors’ meeting indicate that ACL had 
instructed a PR agency and nothing more. In the Committee’s view, it 
cannot be assumed from these minutes that this meant that Cllr Lucas 
and Cllr Mutton had instigated and participated in a public smear 
campaign.  

7.6.9 If there had been a public smear campaign through the media as alleged, 
the Committee thinks that it would be reasonable to see actual examples 
of such tactics being used in the press. While the Complainants have 
produced a table of comments, for reasons set out in Section 7.5 the 
Committee does not accept that these comments were in any way 
inappropriate or lacking in respect. It follows, therefore that it does not 
accept that they amounted to a public smear campaign.

7.6.10 For these reasons the Committee finds that neither Cllr Lucas nor Cllr 
Mutton instigated or participated in a public smear campaign and there 
was therefore no breach of the Code. 

H Sanctions applied

The Committee has found that there was no breach of the Code of 
Conduct by either Cllr Lucas or Cllr Mutton and so no sanctions fall to be 
applied. 

I Appeal

There is no right of appeal against the Committee’s decision.

J Notification of decision

This decision notice is sent to:

Councillor Ann Lucas OBE
Cllr John Mutton 
Mishcon de Reya, Solicitors on behalf of the Complainants

The decision will also be published on the Council’s website. 

K Additional help

If you need additional support in relation to this decision notice or future 
contact with the City Council, please let us know as soon as possible. If 
you have difficulty reading this notice, we can make reasonable 
adjustments to assist you, in line with the requirements of the Equality Act 
2010. We can also help if English is not your first language. 

Page 51



30

Cllr Joseph Clifford 
Chair, Ethics Committee

29th February 2016

Page 52



 Public report
Ethics Committee

24th March 2016
Name of Cabinet Member: 
N/A- Ethics Committee

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Executive Director of Resources

Ward(s) affected:
None

Title: Six Monthly Review of Members’ Declarations of Gifts and Hospitality

Is this a key decision?
No 

Executive Summary:

This report sets out details of declarations of gifts and hospitality made by members since the 
Committee last reviewed these at its meeting on 17th September 2015. The Committee is asked 
to consider the declarations. 

          
Recommendations:

The Ethics Committee is recommended to consider the gifts and hospitality register entries 
received from 22nd August 2015 to 11th March 2016 and to make any recommendations that it 
considers appropriate.

List of Appendices included:  

Appendix 1:  Declarations of gifts and hospitality received between 22nd August 2015 and 11th 
March 2016.

Other useful background papers:

          None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
No 

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?
No 

Will this report go to Council?
No

Page 53

Agenda Item 5



2

Report title:  Review of Members’ Declarations of Gifts and Hospitality

1. Context (or background)

1.1 The Ethics Committee has, as part of its work programme, decided to review on a regular 
basis the declarations of gifts and hospitality made by members. Appendix 1 contains 
copies of all declarations received from members from 22nd August 2015 to 11th March 
2016.

2.  Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1   The declarations received are attached as Appendix 1. In total 12 forms have been received 
from one individual elected member. In five instances the estimated value of the hospitality 
received was below the £25 threshold and in two cases the member was offered but did 
not take up the gift or hospitality. There have been no requests by members of the public to 
view the register during this time.

2.2    The Committee is recommended to consider the declarations made since its last meeting 
and to make any recommendations that it considers appropriate.

         
3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 None. 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision
 

Any recommendations of the Committee will be implemented within an appropriate time 
frame. 

5. Comments from Executive Director, Resources

5.1 Financial implications

There are no specific financial implications arising from the recommendations within this 
report.

5.2 Legal implications

Members are required to declare Gifts and Hospitality under section 4 of the Code of 
Conduct for Elected Members at Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution. Whilst there is no 
statutory requirement for members to declare in this way, maintaining a process and 
Register aids transparency and assists the Council in promoting and maintaining high 
standards of ethical behaviour as is required under section 27 of the Localism Act 2011.

6 Other implications
None

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's key objectives / corporate 
priorities (corporate plan/scorecard) / organisational blueprint / Local Area 
Agreement (or Coventry Sustainable Community Strategy)?

Not applicable.

Page 54



3

6.2 How is risk being managed?

There is no direct risk to the organisation as a result of the contents of this report, but a 
failure to implement and maintain a system of Declarations of Gifts and Hospitality can 
impact on the organisation’s ethical behaviour and transparency. 

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

The routine declaration of gifts and hospitality received should assist in protecting Elected 
Members from unfounded allegations of bias and facilitate good and clear transparent 
decision making. 

6.4 Equalities / EIA
There are no public sector equality duties which are of relevance at this stage.  

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment
None

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

None at this stage

Report author(s):   Carol Bradford 

Name and job title: Lawyer, Legal and Democratic Services

Directorate: Resources

Tel and email contact: 024 7683 3976  carol.bradford@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Gurdip Paddan Governance 

Services Officer
Resources 15.3.16 16.03.16

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers and 
members)
Kathryn Sutherland Finance Resources 15.3.16 15.3.16
Helen Lynch Legal Services 

Manager (Place 
and Regulatory)

Resources 15.3.16

Director: Chris West Executive 
Director, 
Resources

Resources 15.3.16 15.3.16

This report is published on the council's website:
www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings

Page 55

mailto:carol.bradford@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


4

Appendix 

Extracts from Members’ Register of Gifts and Hospitality: 22nd August 
2015 to 11th March 2016

Page 56



5
Page 57



6
Page 58



7
Page 59



8
Page 60



9
Page 61



10
Page 62



11
Page 63



12
Page 64



13
Page 65



14
Page 66



15
Page 67



16
Page 68



 Public report
Ethics Committee

24th March 2016

Name of Cabinet Member: 
N/A- Ethics Committee

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Executive Director of Resources

Ward(s) affected:
None

Title: Six Monthly Review of Officers’ Gifts and Hospitality

Is this a key decision?
No 

Executive Summary:

In its work programme for 2015/16 the Committee has decided to review entries in the Registers 
of Officers’ Gifts and Hospitality for the first 6 months of the year. This report sets out the entries 
in the Registers for the period 1st July to 31st December 2015. It also includes an extract from the 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees relating to gifts and hospitality. 

Recommendations:

The Ethics Committee is recommended to consider the entries of gifts and hospitality received by 
officers for the last six months of 2015 and make any recommendations that it considers 
appropriate. 

List of Appendices included: 

Appendix 1: Extract from Code of Conduct for Employees: Gifts and Hospitality 

Appendix 2: Table of Gifts and Hospitality received by Officers; July to December 2015 

Page 69

Agenda Item 6



2

Other useful background papers:
         None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
No 

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?
No 

Will this report go to Council?
No

Page 70



3

Report title: Six Monthly  Review of Officers’ Gifts and Hospitality

1. Context (or background)

1.1 The Committee’s work programme includes an item for this meeting to review entries on 
the registers of officer gifts and hospitality for the last 6 months of the year.

1.2 Attached at Appendix 1 to this report is an extract from the Code of Conduct for 
Employees. This sets out the requirements for employees when being offered or accepting 
gifts or hospitality. The basic rules are: 

(a) Gifts 
 Personal gifts should never be accepted unless they are modest and are of token 

value (less than £25).  
 The manager’s permission must be obtained 

Where small gifts, such as chocolates, are given as thanks for a service provided, these 
can be accepted if they are shared within the Team or raffled for charity.
Gifts worth more than £25 should be refused. If this is not possible, the manager should 
dispose of them to charity and record the fact in the register. 

(b) Hospitality
 Hospitality consisting of light refreshments, working lunch or other meals which 

are part of a visit, conference, meeting or promotional exercise is acceptable.
 Invitations to social events offered as part of normal working life, may be 

accepted if authorised in advance by the appropriate Assistant Director.
 Invitations to other types of hospitality which are not directly linked to the City 

Council's functions should not be accepted.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1    At present the Chief Executive’s Office and each Directorate maintains its own separate 
register of gifts and hospitality. Each register is slightly different in terms of how much 
information is recorded. All are maintained by the relevant Director’s office apart from 
Public Health which has arrangements to log gifts and hospitality received on the register 
maintained by the Chief Executive’s Office. The Chief Executive has a separate register for 
gifts and hospitality that he receives. 

2.2    The Directorates have been asked to provide details of gifts and hospitality received during 
the last 6 months of the year. The position for each directorate is set out in the Table at 
Appendix 2.

3.      Results of consultation undertaken

Each Directorate was asked to provide details of their registers.  

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1  Not applicable.

5. Comments from Executive Director, Resources

5.1 Financial implications

Page 71



4

There are no specific financial implications arising from the recommendations within this 
report.

5.2 Legal implications

There are no specific legal implications arising from this report. However, reviewing the 
gifts and hospitality offered to employees on a regular basis will help to demonstrate that 
the Council continues to monitor and review ethical standards within the Council.

6. Other implications

None

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's key objectives / corporate 
priorities (corporate plan/scorecard) / organisational blueprint / Local Area 
Agreement (or Coventry Sustainable Community Strategy)?

Not applicable.

6.2 How is risk being managed?

Reviewing gifts and hospitality received by employees will help to reduce the risk of 
acceptance of inappropriate gifts or hospitality.

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

Keeping matters such as this under review will help to promote high standards amongst 
elected members and employees in accordance with the Localism Act.

6.4 Equalities / EIA

There are no public sector equality duties which are of relevance. 

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment

None

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

None at this stage

Report author(s): Carol Bradford

Name and job title:  Lawyer, Place and Regulatory Team, Legal and Democratic Services

Directorate: Resources

Tel and email contact: 024 7683 3976  carol.bradford@coventry.gov.uk 

Page 72

mailto:carol.bradford@coventry.gov.uk


5

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Gurdip Paddan Governance 

Services Officer
Resources 15.3.16 16.03.16

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers and 
members)
 Kathryn Sutherland Finance Resources 15.3.16 15.3.16
Helen Lynch Legal Services 

Manager Place 
and Regulatory

Resources 15.3.16

Chris West Executive 
Director, 
Resources 

Resources 15.3.16 15.3.16

This report is published on the council's website:www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 73

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


6

APPENDIX 1

Extract from Code of Conduct for Employees

13. Gifts and Hospitality and Sponsorship

13.1         Gifts

13.1.1 The City Council expects the conduct of all of its employees to be of the 
highest standard.  Employees' actions must not be influenced by offers of 
gifts or hospitality and their actions must not give the impression that they 
are influenced in this way.  Acceptance of any gift should be the 
exception.  The City Council recognises that there are some items, of 
token value, which may be accepted.  

13.1.2 You must not accept personal gifts of any kind, unless they are modest 
and are of token value (less than £25).  Items such as coffee mugs, 
diaries, calendars or other promotional materials can be retained if your 
Manager agrees.  However, these gifts must be recorded in the relevant 
hospitality register unless your Manager tells you otherwise.  If your 
Manager does not allow you to accept any small gifts, you must return 
them politely, but firmly, telling the person who gave it why and recording 
it in the Hospitality Register.

13.1.3 Without causing offence, you should discourage service users or other 
organisations from offering gifts.  However, where small gifts, such as 
chocolates, are given as thanks for a service provided, then these can be 
accepted if they are shared within the Team or raffled for charity.  No gift 
of alcohol or tobacco should ever be accepted.  

13.1.4 If gifts have a higher value than £25, then you should tactfully refuse 
them.  If gifts of this value are delivered, they should be returned with an 
appropriate explanation.  If gifts cannot be returned, then the Assistant 
Director, or his nominee, should dispose of them to charity and record this 
fact in the Hospitality Register.

13.1.5 Under no circumstances, should gifts of cash, or tokens or vouchers of a 
monetary value, be accepted.  

13.2         Hospitality

13.2.1 In relation to the acceptance of hospitality, special care should be taken 
so as to ensure there can be no suggestion that an employee was 
influenced by such hospitality. 

13.2.2 You should never accept a gift of hospitality from anyone who is, or may 
be in the foreseeable future, tendering for any contract with the Council, 
seeking employment with the Council, seeking any form of consent of 
grant, or is in dispute with the Council.  You should always decline any gift 
or hospitality if you think the giver has an ulterior motive.  You should 
always be sensitive to the possibility that the giver may think even small 

Page 74



7

gifts or simple hospitality may elicit a better service or preferential 
treatment in their dealings with the Council.

13.2.3 The definition of "hospitality" includes drinks, meals, entertainment, 
sporting events, overnight accommodation, travel and holidays.  

13.2.4 The following standards apply to hospitality:-

(a) If you are offered hospitality, you should tell your Manager 
immediately and record the offer in the Directorate Hospitality 
Register, whether it is accepted or not.  If you refuse the hospitality, it 
must be recorded in the Register.

(b) You should never accept hospitality unless you genuinely need to give 
or receive information or to represent the City Council in your work.

(c) Your Manager must agree, beforehand, wherever possible.

(d) You should never accept any hospitality if it is meant to corrupt or 
influence, or could be seen to corrupt or influence or as being against 
the City Council's interests.

(e) The timing of hospitality is an important factor.  For example, 
hospitality should never be accepted from a contractor who is about to 
put in a tender for City Council work.

13.2.5 You may accept incidental hospitality, such as light refreshments, working 
lunch or other meals which is part of a visit, conference, meeting or 
promotional exercise.

13.2.6 Invitations to social events offered as part of normal working life, such as 
opening celebrations, annual dinners, may be accepted if authorised in 
advance by the appropriate Assistant Director.

13.2.7 Invitations to other types of hospitality which are not directly linked to the 
City Council's functions, such as attendance at sporting events, theatrical 
or musical performances, "corporate days", paid holidays or concessionary 
travel rates, should not be accepted.

13.2.8 Where visits are required to inspect equipment, sites etc, you must ensure 
that the City Council meets all the costs of such visits to avoid 
jeopardising the integrity of any subsequent purchasing decision.  Where 
anything other than incidental hospitality is offered by an existing 
contractor, or by an organisation likely to be involved in a contract, the 
hospitality should be refused.  You should avoid socialising with 
organisations and should pay your own bills for meals, travel etc, (claiming 
any expenditure back under the Council's procedures for reimbursement 
as appropriate).  

13.2.9 Similar rules apply to those instances where employees are offering 
hospitality on behalf of the City Council.  The following guidelines must be 
observed on all occasions.  For the purpose of these guidelines 
"hospitality" excludes the normal tea, coffee and other refreshments 
provided at meetings:-

Page 75



8

(a) any hospitality must be provided on a modest scale.
(b) so far as is practicable, hospitality must be provided in the 

workplace.
(c) soft drinks only must be provided in the workplace, alcoholic drinks 

must not be available.
(d) if it is necessary to provide hospitality outside the workplace, this 

must be on a model scale appropriate to the occasion.   The cost 
must not be excessive.  

(e) the number of employees involved on any occasion when hospitality 
is provided must be restricted, and in any event, must not extend 
beyond those directly involved with the matter in hand.

(f)   the provision of all hospitality must be personally approved by your 
Manager, and  an Assistant Director, Deputy Director or Director.

(g) bills for hospitality provided must be certified for payment by your 
Manager, and an Assistant Director, Deputy Director or Director.

(h) each service will maintain in their hospitality register, a record of all 
occasions on which hospitality has been provided, the number of 
persons involved, and the costs incurred. 

Page 76



 Public report
Ethics Committee

APPENDIX 2

Table of Entries in Officers’ Registers of Gifts and Hospitality: 1st July to 31st December 2015

Date Officer Description Provider Estimated 
Value

Code of 
Conduct 
general 
consent 

Consent of 
senior 
officer or 
manager 
obtained? 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S OFFICE

1.7.15 Chief Executive LGA/SOLACE Drinks reception 
and dinner as part of LGA 
Conference

Zurich £75.00 Yes N/A

31.7.15 Chief Executive Carfest North  Motor Festival - 
VIP Ticket

Brand Events £500.00 Yes N/A

20.8.15 Chief Executive Dinner at Arden House, 
University of Warwick

Warwick Manufacturing 
Group / Jaguar Land 
Rover

£50.00 Yes N/A

P
age 77



10

27.8.15 Communications 
Officer 

Two standard cinema tickets: 
received in the post as a thank 
you for helping on a campaign

Pearl and Dean 
Advertising 

£17.80 No 
information

No 
information 

28.8.15 Chief Executive Carfest South - non VIP entry 
ticket

Brand Events
 

£250.00 Yes N/A

7.10.15 Chief Executive Dinner at Lolitas Restaurant, 
Bournemouth as part of the 
SOLACE Summit

SOLACE/The Pinnacle 
Group/The Guardian

£75.00 Yes N/A

8.10.15 Chief Executive  SOLACE Annual Charity 
Dinner at Bournemouth 
Pavilion as part of SOLACE 
Summit

SOLACE Business 
Partners

£75.00 Yes N/A

10.10.15 Chief Executive Rugby World Cup, Australia -v- 
Wales at Twickenham

Jaguar Land Rover £150.00 Yes N/A

20.10.15 Chief Executive Leaders Network Dinner at 
Roux in London

Centre for Cities £75.00 Yes N/A

10.11.15 E-communications 
Co-ordinator 

Meal at Wagamamas: received 
as a thank you for presenting 
about Coventry’s e-comms 
work at a LG Comms 
conference

GovDelivery £9.85 No 
information

No 
information 

PEOPLE DIRECTORATE

No entries during 
period reviewed. 

PLACE DIRECTORATE

P
age 78



11

21.8.15 Project Delivery 
Manager

Invitation from ACL for 
Rugby x2

Wasps £30.00 No 
information

No 
information

2.9.15 Personal Assistant Dinner for 2 Official opening of Las 
Iguanas

£35 per 
head 

No 
information

No 
information

28.10.16 Assistant Director 
Property 
Management and 
Senior Valuation 
Surveyor 

Lunch at Wagamamas State Bank of India £15 No 
information

No 
information

8.11.15 Assistant Director 
Development 
Services 

Game and hospitality x2 Wasps £100 No 
information

No 
information

25.11.15 Assistant Director 
Streetscene and 
Greenspace and 
Programme 
Manager Finance

Sandwich Lunch Coombe Abbey £20 No 
information

No 
information

28.11.15 Head of Service, 
Sports, Culture, 
Destination and 
Business 
Relationships

Concert at Old Grammar 
School (part of jazz festival)

Culture Coventry £50.75 No 
information

No 
information

10.12.15 Head of Service, 
Sports, Culture, 
Destination and 
Business 
Relationships, 
Events Manager and 
Assistant Director 
Streetscene and 

BBC Music Awards at 
Genting Arena

BBC Approx.  
£50.00

No 
information

No 
information

P
age 79



12

Greenspace

18.12.15 Project Managers x 
2

Christmas Hamper Meridian Construction £25.00 No 
information

No 
information

22.12.15 Occupier Support 
Manager 

Christmas Hamper Strikes £100.00 No 
information

No 
information

PUBLIC HEALTH

No entries during 
period reviewed. 

 

RESOURCES DIRECTORATE

17/18.9.
15

Executive Director S151 Event, Oxford CIPFA Approx. 
£100

No 
information

No 
information

23.9.15 Executive Director Breakfast meeting CW Champions Less than 
£25

No 
information

No 
information

1/2.10.1
5

Executive Director Annual Conference 2015 fee Society of Municipal 
Treasurers 

£150 No 
information

No 
information

13.10.15 Executive Director Breakfast meeting KPMG Pensions Less than 
£25

No 
information

No 
information

P
age 80



 Public report
Ethics Committee

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Ethics Committee

24th March 2016

Name of Cabinet Member: 
N/A- Ethics Committee

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Executive Director of Resources

Ward(s) affected:
Not applicable

Title:
Work programme for the Ethics Committee 2016/17

Is this a key decision?
No 

Executive Summary:

This report suggests areas of work for the Ethics Committee for the Municipal Year 2016/17. The 
Committee is asked to consider the draft work programme and make any suggestions for 
additional or alternative reports. 

Recommendations:

The Ethics Committee is recommended to review the work programme attached as Appendix 1 
and make any changes or amendments the Committee considers appropriate.  

List of Appendices included:

Work programme

Other useful background papers:

         None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
No 

Page 83

Agenda Item 7



2

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?
No 

Will this report go to Council?
No

Page 84



3

Report title: Draft Work Programme

1. Context (or background)

1.1 The Committee's Terms of Reference are set out in the Council's Constitution and include the 
consideration of matters which are relevant to the ethical governance of the Council, its 
members or employees. This report attaches a proposed programme of work for the 
Committee, designed to assist the Committee to meet its objectives set out in the Terms of 
Reference, and to ensure that the Council complies with its obligations under section 27 of 
the Localism Act 2011 to promote and maintain high standards of conduct amongst elected 
and co-opted members. 

1.2  The Committee's draft work programme takes account of the need to promote standards and 
addresses this in a number of ways. It is a draft work programme and is flexible in terms of 
suggestions from members of the Ethics Committee as to additional or substitute areas 
which they would want to consider and receive reports on. However, certain items have been 
included which will help the Committee focus on its key aim to promote high standards of 
conduct for all members and employees of the Council.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 First it is proposed that there should continue to be a standing item for each meeting, by way 
of a Monitoring Officer / Code of Conduct update, which will incorporate a review of 
complaints to date and an update on any national issues on the subject of elected member 
conduct which may be of interest. This is flexible and can cover additional areas which the 
Committee is particularly concerned about, as they arise. 

2.2 Secondly it is suggested that the Ethics Committee continue to review declarations of Gifts 
and Hospitality by both officers and members at six monthly intervals.  This will assist the 
Committee in reviewing how the two Codes of Conduct are working a day to day basis. 

2.3  Thirdly, items have been included to ensure an annual review of the position of the parish 
councils, a review of the Register of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and a review of any 
Annual Report from the Committee on Standards in Public Life.  A separate item has been 
included for the first meeting of the new municipal year to consider reviewing the Code of 
Conduct Complaints Protocol in the light of practice. 

2.4  The Committee is asked to consider the work programme and agree its contents together 
with any other recommendations. 

3. Results of consultation undertaken

None 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1 Not Applicable

5. Comments from Executive Director, Resources

5.1 Financial implications

Page 85



4

There are no specific financial implications arising from the recommendations within this 
report.

5.2 Legal implications
There are no specific legal implications arising from this report, as there is no statutory 
obligation on the Committee to adopt a work programme. However, the Council must 
comply with its obligations under section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 and the continuation 
of a clear programme of work would assist in compliance for the Council as a whole, in its 
duty to promote high standards of ethical conduct.  

6. Other implications
None

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's key objectives / corporate 
priorities (corporate plan/scorecard) / organisational blueprint / Local Area 
Agreement (or Coventry Sustainable Community Strategy)?

Not applicable.

6.2 How is risk being managed?

There is no direct risk to the organisation as a result of the contents of this report.

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

If implemented, the work programme will facilitate the promotion of high standards amongst 
elected members in accordance with the Localism Act.

6.4 Equalities / EIA
There are no pubic sector equality duties which are of relevance at this stage.  

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment
None

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

None at this stage

Page 86



5

Report author(s): Carol Bradford

Name and job title: Lawyer, Regulatory Team, Legal and Democratic Services

Directorate: Resources

Tel and email contact: 024 7683 3976  carol.bradford@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Gurdip Paddan Governance 

Services Officer
Resources 15.3.16 16.03.16

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers and 
members)
Finance: Kathryn Sutherland Resources 15.3.16 15.3.16
Legal: Helen Lynch Legal Services 

Manager Place 
and Regulatory

Resources 15.3.16

Director: Chris West Executive 
Director 
Resources

Resources 15.3.16 15.3.16

This report is published on the council's website:
www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 87

mailto:carol.bradford@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


6

Appendix  

Work Programme for the Municipal year 2016/2017

Meeting no. 
and date 

Topics Verbal or written Lead officer

2016/2017
1.

Monitoring Officer/Code of 
Conduct/ Members Complaints 
Update.

Written Helen Lynch

Six monthly review of Register of 
DPIs. 

Written Helen Lynch

Review of Complaints Protocol Written Helen Lynch

2.
Monitoring Officer/Code of 
Conduct/ Members Complaints 
Update.

 Written Helen Lynch

Officers Gifts and Hospitality -
Inspection of Registers for first 6 
months of 2016.

Written Helen Lynch

Members Gifts and Hospitality -
Inspection of Registers for first 6 
months of 2016.

Written Helen Lynch

3.
Monitoring Officer/Code of 
Conduct/ Members Complaints 
Update.

 Written Helen Lynch

Standards in Public Life- update 
from national body usually 
published in August each year.

Written Helen Lynch

Annual review of Parish Councils 
ethical standards regime.

Written Helen Lynch

Six monthly review of Register of 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests.

Written Helen Lynch

4.
Monitoring Officer/Code of 
Conduct/ Members Complaints 
Update.

 Written Helen Lynch

Officers Gifts and Hospitality -
Inspection of Registers for last 6 
months of 2016.

Written Helen Lynch

Members Gifts and Hospitality -
Inspection of Registers for last 6 
months of 2016.

Written Helen Lynch

Page 88



7
Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Mins - 29 February 2016

	4 Code of Conduct Update
	5 Six Monthly Review of Members' Declarations of Gifts and Hospitality
	6 Six monthly Review of Officers' Gift and Hospitality
	7 Work Programme 2016-17

